

# **Engaging with Diversity in Hospitable Spaces**

A Study on Lived Experiences of Community Theatre with Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Leeds

Anne Svenstrup Grant

Communication for Development One-year master 15 Credits Spring 2021 Supervisor: Anders Høg Hansen

#### **Abstract**

An emphasis in political debates and much print media in the United Kingdom (UK) on perceived issues with ethnic, religious, and cultural diversity has contributed to a narrative of worry and fear. Despite such hostile discourse, people find ways of living together with diversity every day.

The encounters which I am concerned with in the following degree project are taking place through community theatre with Mafwa Theatre in Leeds where women from asylum seeker, refugee, and wider communities are socialising and cooperating over fun and simple drama activities. The purpose of this thesis is to better understand the different participants' lived experiences of the theatre space, how they view their role in the group, and how they perceive diversity in the group. The research questions are explored with qualitative research methods of individual interviews with Mafwa members, the facilitators and a volunteer, participant observation during the weekly drama sessions, and document analysis of printed, online, and audio materials.

With this degree project, I aim to contribute to the discussion about everyday multiculturalism and living with diversity in the UK. The theoretical framework consists of the concept of hospitality which helps me explore how hospitable spaces are shaped and negotiated by different contributors, and conviviality which embraces the complexity of social relations without romanticising them and can help us reach a better understanding of how to live together without a fear for each other's differences.

The findings show that the different participants view the drama group as a hospitable community of acceptance and respect within a hostile environment for asylum seekers and refugees at the national level. The space offers a well-needed opportunity for the women to have fun, develop their creative skills, and escape day-to-day concerns. Moreover, the study shows that besides being proud co-producers of artistic practice, all participants are also active co-creators of shaping the hospitable space and a 'convivial culture'. Finally, despite misunderstandings and disagreements in the group, the participants express having bonded over similarities and learned from differences rather than describing diversity as something to fear.

**Keywords**: Refugees & asylum seekers, community theatre, applied theatre, diversity, conviviality, hospitality, United Kingdom, Leeds

## Table of Contents

Abstract	1
1 Introduction	4
1.1 Aim & Research Questions	5
1.2 Limitations	6
2 Background	7
2.1 Refugees & Asylum Seekers	7
2.2 Immigration to the UK	7
2.3 Theatre Company Mafwa Theatre	9
3 Literature Review	11
3.1 Theatre for Development (TfD)	11
3.2 Community Theatre with Refugees & Asylum Seekers	12
3.3 Situating my Study	14
4 Conceptual Framework	15
4.1 Hospitality	
4.1.1 Welcoming Others	
4.1.2 Hosts & Guests	16
4.1.3 Theatre as a Welcoming Space	17
4.1.4 Facilitators & Participants	18
4.2 Conviviality	19
4.2.1 Living with Diversity	19
4.2.2 Beyond Fleeting Meetings	20
4.2.3 Meaningful Encounters with Diversity through Theatre	21
5 Methodology	23
5.1 Finding my Informants	23
5.2 Qualitative Methods of Data Collection	23
5.2.1 Semi-structured Interviews	23
5.2.2 Participant Observation	24
5.2.3 Document Analysis	25
5.3 Analysing the data	25
5.4 Ethical Considerations & Reflexivity	25
6 Analysis	28
6.1. A Welcoming Community	28
6.1.1 Hospitality at the Local Level	28
6.1.2 A Space for Fun & Relaxation	29

6.1.3 Personal Benefits from Theatre-making	31
6.1.4 A Community of Care	32
6.2 A Cooperation between all Participants	
6.2.1 Striving for 'Horizontal relations'	
6.2.2 Active Co-Creators of the Space	36
6.3 Embracing Similarities & Differences	39
6.3.1 Realising Commonalities & Negotiating Differences	39
6.3.2 Tensions & Misunderstandings	40
7 Conclusion	43
7.1 Future Research	45
8 References	47
9 Appendices	54
Appendix 1 - List of Interviewees	54
Appendix 2 - Interview Guides	54
Appendix 3 – Participant Observation	59

#### 1 Introduction

Societal change is no modern phenomena. Confrontations of traditions, languages and lifestyles, demographic changes, and social improvement are rather the norm. Globalisation with its current complex, interconnected and transformative processes has defined the twentieth century and led to greater awareness by many people of living in a global rather than a local context (Jenkins 2014).

Some societal changes have received much public attention and stirred up controversy. Since the proclaimed 'war on terror' after the 9/11 attacks, the pan-European 'refugee crisis' in 2015, and up to and during the 2016 referendum campaign leading to a majority vote for the United Kingdom (UK) leaving the European Union, much negative attention and suspicion have been directed towards immigrants in the print media and political debates in the country (Goodwin et al. 2017). In times of economic stagnation and high unemployment, immigrants have often been blamed for stealing jobs and taking advantage of the benefit system (URL 1) and since the early twenty-first century, researchers argue that emphasis has been on the perceived issues with immigration and the threat people's 'differences' bring to society's moral order. Negative media representations contribute to unfavourable public opinions and amplifying concerns with societal diversity (Polgár 2006, Pijpers 2006).

Processes of movement bring changes into the local setting, and how migrant populations and host societies can live together in a diverse society has been widely debated. Moreover, recent policies in the UK have focused on ensuring 'social cohesion' in the sense of 'togetherness', trust, and solidarity (URL 2) rather than division and segregation in communities (see for example URL 3)<sup>1</sup>. Meanwhile, groups and individuals, both newly arrived and established populations, interact through regular encounters with each other. This study is broadly interested in how people at the local level engage and live with diversity in a UK setting and how they make sense of encounters with strangers.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Researchers such as Vertovec et al. (2005) argue that a "cultural-diversity sceptical turn", i.e., a concern with lacking cross-cultural contact between people who are perceived to live 'parallel lives', have dominated public and political debates about cultural difference and ethnic diversity in the UK. Especially since the 2001 rallies in the three Northern English towns Bradford, Burnley, and Oldham where racial tensions and social inequality led to riots between white and Asian populations (Neal et al. 2013:309-10) and the London bombings of transport networks in 2005, policies have been more concerned with potential issues with lacking 'community cohesion' (Jeffers 2012:118).

#### 1.1 Aim & Research Questions

Up until the 1970s most migrants came to the UK from former colonies and Commonwealth countries, mainly in the Caribbean and South Asia. Nowadays people come from almost every country of the world, also countries with no historical link with the UK, which has led to what can now be called a 'super-diverse' nation (Vertovec 2007b:1029). A greater diversity can be found when it comes to for example country of origin, ethnic belonging, immigration status, education level, labour market experience, and religious affiliation, and the interplay between such variables has shaped and is shaping the nature of communities in the contemporary UK (ibid).

Many former studies have been concerned with how host members address the sociocultural diversity of immigrants, whether they accept or even welcome it into their communities (Hugo 2015) or act with fear, exclusion and in extreme cases harassment (Amin 2002).

The following study is explored through the frame of Communication for Development (ComDev) to gain an understanding of how participatory theatre-making can be used as a communication tool for interacting with strangers and living with diversity. ComDev emerged along with the growing field of development as a strategic tool for enhancing development processes, but it was not until the 1950s that participatory communication focusing on dialogue and the involvement of the people in question started to be viewed as important for processes of social change. With roots in among others Paulo Freire's work in adult education in Latin America and growing out of a critique of Western domination in development work and debates, participation along with questions of empowerment and voice are nowadays essential in much international development practice and theory (Tufte et al. 2009:1-3).

In this degree project, I am interested in examining the experiences and learnings of women from refugee, asylum seeker, and wider communities coming together around participatory community theatre. The female-only drama sessions are organised by Mafwa Theatre, and the study is situated in the diverse city of Leeds in England. Through in-depth individual interviews with Mafwa members, the two facilitators and a volunteer and participant observation carried out during online and physical theatre sessions, I seek to understand the participants' lived experiences of theatre-making with a diverse group of women.

Therefore, the research questions are as follows:

- What does the Mafwa Theatre space mean to the different participating women?
- How do the participants perceive their role in the theatre group?
- How do the participants view diversity in the theatre group?

To address the research questions, previous literature on theatre for development and community theatre with refugees and asylum seekers create a foundation, and two main theoretical approaches have been identified for the analysis. First, the concept of hospitality is applied to understand how the participants view the theatre space and perceive their roles in the group. Second, I employ the concept of conviviality for living together with diversity and embracing the complexity in human relations. This second theoretical approach helps me explore the participants' perceptions of each other and experiences of diversity in the group.

#### 1.2 Limitations

A conscious decision was made to focus on the interaction between the participants in the group. As the theatre company's current focus is on strengthening the group bonds and interacting over drama practice more than setting up public performances, this limitation felt relevant. To also include the interaction with or response from the audience lies beyond the scope of this project.

Having to carry out the research online due to the Covid-19 pandemic meant a limitation to the interaction with my informants. Six out of the eight individual interviews were carried out online and participant observation mainly took place online allowing few opportunities to informally converse with the participants before and during the sessions. Doing research online affected the data selected and the low number of interviewees in my qualitative study. Therefore, I do not attempt to draw general conclusions about the experiences of refugees and asylum seekers doing participatory community theatre or the theatre form's potential for social change.

## 2 Background

#### 2.1 Refugees & Asylum Seekers

'Refugee' and 'asylum seeker' are often mistakenly used interchangeably, but it is important to distinguish between the terms for the sake of this degree paper. According to the UNHCR, refugees are "people who have fled war, violence, conflict or persecution and have crossed an international border to find safety in another country" (URL 4), whereas an asylum seeker is someone who has formally applied for protection in a recipient country but "whose request for sanctuary has yet to be processed" (URL 5).<sup>2</sup> Behind these definitions are actual people which the terms say little about, and it is among other these persons that this degree project is concerned with.

#### 2.2 Immigration to the UK

With the British National Act in 1948, people from the Empire and Commonwealth were given the possibility to immigrate to the UK. Though, the unexpected arrival of many non-white immigrants led to a political focus in the 1960s and early 1970s on racialised restrictions to limit immigration of non-whites (Ashcroft et al. 2017:4-6).<sup>3</sup>

The UK is nowadays known for its notoriously strict immigration system which has become particularly punitive since the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Griffiths et al. 2021:4). The Labour government in the 1990s paved the way for creating a more 'uncomfortable environment' for undocumented migrants and since the implementation of the 'hostile environment' policies<sup>4</sup> in 2012 and the increase in far-right political parties, it has become more difficult to migrate to and stay in the UK (ibid:5, Berelson et al. 2019:69). Such policies targeting undocumented migrants attempt to make life difficult for people lacking the right paperwork and have been criticised for encouraging to discrimination and suspicion

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Terms such as 'immigrants' and 'migrants' are used to talk about people on the move. Lacking internationally accepted legal definitions, 'immigrants' are often understood to be people "who are or intend to be settled in their new country" and a 'migrant' viewed as someone "temporarily resident" in a country (URL 6). Importantly, both are free to return home.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Scholars such as Ashcroft et al. (2007) and Gilroy (2004) have been critical to the downplay of Britain's imperial past and have emphasised how remaking the nation's identity since the decolonialisation have led to a search for 'Britishness' and meant that immigration and race have become intertwined.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The term covers not one document, but more immigration acts and regulations introduced under Home Secretary Theresa May to move some of the responsibility from the national borders to state officials for cutting 'illegal' immigration to the country. 'Hostile environment' is also increasingly used within academia and media discourses to talk about the general hostility towards migrants (Griffiths et al. 2021).

against newcomers<sup>5</sup> but also for ignoring postcolonial links and long-term residency in the country<sup>6</sup> (Kaptani et al. 2021).

Moreover, 35,737 asylum applications were made in the UK in 2019 (URL 7) and while people wait months or years for a decision, the majority of asylum-seekers are not allowed to work and instead rely on low state support and live in poor-quality housing (URL 8). This means a barrier to settling and leaves many feeling isolated and struggling with mental health (Berelson et al. 2019:70). 48% of the applications made in 2019 were rejected (URL 9) and with the fear of deportation naturally follows struggles with people's psychological and physical health. At the same time, cuts have been made in the support to refugees for example to English language classes making it harder for people to settle in society (Berelson et al. 2019:70-71).

Most migrants coming to the UK end up in bigger cities in England. The Metropolitan county West Yorkshire where the following study takes place is located inland in northern England and like the rest of the UK, the region has a long history of migration. Whereas many migrants used to come to the region from Ireland and former Commonwealth colonies, since 2000 the region has seen an increase in Central and Eastern Europeans and asylum seekers with diverse backgrounds (URL 10).

The largest and most populous city of the region, Leeds, had a total population of 798,786 in 2020, and around 99,000 of the inhabitants, i.e., 12.5%, were born outside the UK and two-thirds of those outside the EU. The migrant population consists of both international students, economic migrants, and asylum seekers, and the people living in Leeds are of around 170 different nationalities, speak more than 70 languages, and 18.9% belong to ethnic minority groups<sup>7</sup> (ibid). Diversity can be found in every area of Leeds<sup>8</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For example, must landlords, employers, and doctors perform immigration status checks before offering housing, work, and healthcare to people or consequently pay high fines (Kaptani et al. 2021:69).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> An example is the so-called 'Windrush Scandal' in 2018 concerned with a generation of mainly Black British citizens coming from Commonwealth countries to the UK between the 1940s to 1970s. As many never claimed the British passports which they had the right to, they were later mis-recognised as 'undocumented migrants' due to lacking papers proving their right to remain in the UK. Many were denied access to public services and threatened with deportation. The controversial scandal is an example of the racial effects the hostile environment policies have had on different people in the UK (Kaptani et al. 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The majority are of Asian background (mostly coming from India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh) and from Black minority groups (Piekut et al. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The city's diversity is among other reflected in its cuisine from all over the world and wide range of yearly cultural events celebrating diversity, traditions, and people's skills such as the oldest West Indian Carnival in Europe (1967) and Refugee Week celebrating the creativity and contributions of refugees.

#### 2.3 Theatre Company Mafwa Theatre

There are over 120 organisations and charities in Leeds offering support to refugees, asylum seekers, and other migrant communities. One such actor is the community theatre company Mafwa Theatre striving to bring together women from refugee, asylum seeker and wider Leeds communities<sup>9</sup> with the help of drama and arts.

The community-based theatre company welcomes all women from different backgrounds which is reflected in the diversity of its more than 80 members in terms of among other country of origin, ethnicity, age, first language, educational level, and life experiences. Many of the women are unemployed and several are current or refused asylum seekers (Berelson et al. 2019:70).

Mafwa Theatre was founded in February 2018 by the co-artistic directors Keziah Berelson and Tamsin Cook with the aim to through weekly, participant-led drama sessions build community and create a feeling of solidarity while enabling the participants to develop their English and creative skills. The company also supports members experiencing social isolation and mental health struggles to build their confidence and self-expression (ibid:68).

The weekly workshops were carried out via Zoom during the pandemic but are once again taking place in person<sup>10</sup> and are open to all women wanting to meet others, have fun, and work creatively (URL 11).

Keziah and Tamsin strive to create a culture of welcome and strengthen the system of support for newly arrived women in the city. With the help of theatre-making and arts, people's similarities and differences and the power of diverse communities are highlighted and celebrated (URL 12).

Besides the weekly drama sessions, the company works with wider societal obstacles and breaking down barriers that can hinder people from engaging with arts. Therefore, they have worked to get financial support for among others bus tickets to the sessions and

<sup>10</sup> Before the pandemic, the drama sessions took place at the refugee-led organisation Leeds Refugee Forum in Lincoln Green in Leeds, but the participants are currently meeting up in a studio space at the arts organisation Patrick Studios in Mabgate in the inner-city area of the city.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The broad term 'wider communities' covers both British-born and migrant women. Some have migrated more recently to the UK whereas others are children of parents who migrated and were maybe even born in the country. As the group is open to all women, some participants from 'wider communities' live in deprived areas of Leeds whereas others live in areas which are better off in socio-economic terms, and while some are unemployed others are employed and/or students.

performances, and food vouchers for the participants. They also take part in campaigns advocating for migrant rights and have been actively involved in the Asylum Matter's 'Lift the Ban' campaign for the right of all asylum seekers to work (ibid).

#### 3 Literature Review

#### 3.1 Theatre for Development (TfD)

Previous definitions of development were mainly concerned with economic development, but as scholars like John Clammer (2012) have pointed out, it is important to not only understand development as growth or fulfilling basic needs, but also as the potential of thriving and enjoying a high quality of life. He argues for a holistic view of development appreciating the potential of the arts and creativity for social transformation and wellbeing. One such cultural manifestation is theatre.

Development practitioners already started recognising theatre as a valuable tool for development in the 1950s<sup>11</sup> (Flynn et al. 2015:11), and in the 1970s, Theatre for Development (TfD) became a strategy for education in Latin America, sub-Saharan Africa, and the Indian subcontinent and has over the last four decades grown in importance and spread worldwide (Epskamp 2006:xiv). Two important influencers of the developmental intervention tool were Brazilian educator and philosopher Paulo Freire and Brazilian theatre director Augusto Boal who in the 1960s and 1970s experimented with participatory learning methods and emphasised the potential of theatre as a tool for social intervention through placing the participant rather than the facilitator at the centre of the learning process (ibid, Nicholson 2014). Dialogical communication and collective participation in theatre practice, Freire (1970) argued, could enable individuals and communities to become aware of problems and together find solutions, rather than outsiders offering solutions to pre-defined problems.

Within TfD, theatre is seen as a communication tool for development and a potential vehicle to support processes of social change (Chukwu-Okoronkwo 2020). Drama as a participatory tool is used to encourage people to become aware of and express concerns about their lives, consider the causes of such issues, and how to take steps towards possible solutions. Moreover, taking part in dynamic, creative play and expressing oneself through collective activity and performance has the potential to create a milieu for cooperation and strong social bonds (Epskamp 2006, Kerr 2014).

<sup>11</sup> Though at the time it was used mainly to disseminate development ideas about among other sanitation and immunisation.

The participatory methodology has become popular with both NGOs, governmental and multilateral organisations, especially with projects concerned with behaviour change and conflict resolution, as it requires limited resources, involves local people as performers, and can be used even with illiterate participants. Participatory theatre performance has the potential to bring about radical new understandings of the self and lead to change within a community (Epskamp 2006, Flynn et al. 2015), though, while participation is essential, we must keep in mind that it is not the magic bullet to solving problems. Epskamp (2006) reminds us that for participatory projects to be successful, the micropractices of theatre at the local level must be seen in the context of wider structures at the macro-level hindering development and freedom.

Whereas many theatre development projects in the past took a top-down approach, showed little concern with local people's needs, and focused on economic growth rather than long-term social change, TfD projects nowadays tend to emphasise a horizontal approach of two-way communication where the beneficiaries are more involved in the planning and implementation and simultaneously placed at the centre of their own development. People's personal creative potential, their backgrounds, and experiences are valued to a greater extend, and people's active participation seen as necessary in the process towards empowerment and social change (Epskamp 2006, Chukwu-Okoronkwo 2020, Kerr 2014).

#### 3.2 Community Theatre with Refugees & Asylum Seekers

The terms 'applied drama' and 'applied theatre' are often used interchangeably to describe "forms of dramatic activity that are specifically intended to benefit individuals, communities and societies" (Nicholson 2014:3). Though, 'applied drama' is frequently used to talk about a more process-based form, whereas 'applied theatre' is described as more performance-based (Taylor in Nicholson 2014:5). Both forms are often participatory by nature and marked by an intention to strengthen the participants' creative agency and capacities, encourage to personal and social changes, and challenge hierarchies (Jeffers 2012, Epskamp 2006).

The type of applied drama which I am concerned with in this degree project is community theatre, which Nicholson (2014) describes as "characterised by the participation of community members in creating a piece of theatre which has special resonance for that

community" (12). It is often viewed as "a tool which offers the possibility to concretely foster intercultural dialogue, community cohesion and mutual understanding" (URL 13:3), and the themes are usually problem-oriented and of direct relevance to the community (Epskamp 2006:11).

Projects around community theatre often include groups of refugees and asylum seekers with little or no previous experience of doing drama working together with professional artists (Jeffers 2012) around different theatre techniques such as improvisation and role-play (URL 13:4). Community theatre is nowadays widely used to bring together established communities and newly arrived refugees or asylum seekers, to challenge prejudices, create a feeling of belonging, and celebrate the positive impacts that people with different backgrounds and life experiences can bring to a community (ibid, URL 14).

As Jeffers (2012) points out, a lot has already been written within academia on the topics of theatre, migration, and refugees. Much literature has been concerned with theatremaking with refugees in camps around the world<sup>12</sup>, and scholars have also been studying applied theatre with migrants in recipient countries<sup>13</sup>.

Moreover, many former studies challenge the notion of theatre-making being inherently empowering and encourage researchers to distinguish between performance practices which are transformative and leading to permanent changes and those which are transportive and temporarily taking the participant somewhere (Schechner in Nicholson 2014:14-16). Crucial to studying the transformative potentials of participatory theatre is taking into account wider societal, political, and cultural structures and how such affect the micro-dramaturgy, i.e., the dramaturgy around the concrete production (Berelson et al. 2019, Kaptani et al. 2021). For example, do de Smet et al. (2018) with their study of a Berlin-based theatre project point out how the broader socio-political climate of stigmatisation and polarisation in Europe surround the micro-dramaturgy and affect the potentials for participant agency and empowerment.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See, for example, Borisenko (2016) who has studied a theatre project with refugee youth in a camp in Kenya where sharing their stories and traumas led to long-term effects of building confidence and forming friendships, or Ong et al. (2019) who examined a co-production between European actors and refugee performers in 'The Jungle' in Calais to study how it enabled the participants to use their agency and cultivated a sense of 'togetherness-in-difference'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Horghagen et al. (2010) who examined the use of community theatre to foster feelings of collaboration and belonging for asylum seekers in a detention centre in Norway, or Turner-King (2018) who studied what access and being welcomed to two youth theatres in the UK meant for young people and their sense of belonging and agency.

#### 3.3 Situating my Study

Living together in super-diverse cities has been discussed and problematised in political, public, and scholarly debates, though, how relations are formed and what meaningful interchanges in urban environments look like have not been researched enough, according to Vertovec (2007b). We still know very little about how social initiatives impact the people involved.

Moreover, while much former research in the UK on living with diversity in urban spaces has focused on the London area (see for example Wessendorf 2013, Back et al. 2016), I seek to contribute with my small qualitative study to the work on theatre-making, hospitality, and conviviality by examining lived experiences of community theatre with Mafwa Theatre within the super-diverse city of Leeds.

## 4 Conceptual Framework

In the following chapter, I present the two theoretical concepts which inform my analysis. Applying hospitality can help us better understand how social relations are negotiated in a mobile world between 'self' and 'other' and open up debates about how to live with diversity. In addition, conviviality can help us embrace the complexity of social relations without romanticising them and reach a better understanding of how to live together in society without fearing each other's differences. Combining the two concepts will help me analyse the participants' lived experiences and learnings from doing drama with the diverse group.

#### 4.1 Hospitality

#### 4.1.1 Welcoming Others

The global movement of people or the idea of granting hospitality to the 'stranger' are nothing new. Though, questions of how to welcome others, who can perform the roles of host and guest, and what kinds of spaces hospitality produces are still highly topical in today's mobile world (Molz et al. 2016:1-3) where life increasingly consists of 'stranger encounters' for both travellers and those who stay at home (Ahmed 2000).

Hospitality has its roots in the Latin terms 'hospitalia' and 'hospitia' meaning "dwellings specifically for the lodging of foreigners" (Chamberlain 2020:61). The important contributor to the philosophy of hospitality, Jacques Derrida (2000a), described the complex concept as a welcome and invitation of the 'stranger', such 'foreigner' being defined, first of all, as someone born elsewhere (14). The invitation can take place at a state level where tourists, visitors, or migrants are permitted to cross borders or at a personal level when inviting someone into one's home.

Inspired by the philosopher Emmanuel Levinas, Derrida (2000b) encourages us to imagine an unconditional hospitality without restrictions or expectations of returns from strangers. Though, he simultaneously points out that such absolute hospitality is an impossibility because the host through welcoming the guest reaffirms his position of power and sovereignty over the 'home': "'make yourself at home' but on condition that

you observe the rules of hospitality by respecting the being-at-home of my home" (Derrida 2000a: 14). There is thus an inherent tension to hospitality as welcoming others predicates upon having a 'home' and thus the power to define the conditions for hospitality and choose who to give it to (Derrida 2000b, O'Gorman 2006).

The concept of hospitality has been applied in academic and political discourses on migration and multiculturalism in Europe, often to debate the tension pointed out by Derrida between a universal, unconditional right to hospitality and the right of the nation-state to control its borders through granting conditional hospitality (Molz et al. 2016). Researching the UK, Sarah Gibson (2016) argues that the nation takes pride in imagining itself as tolerant and welcoming, at the same time as there is a moral panic about the risk of newcomers misusing the nation's generosity. Such fear is visible in anti-immigration discourses where asylum seekers, refugees, and economic migrants are often socially constructed as unwanted parasites threatening the nation's hospitality (Rosello 2001), and negative media narratives describing Britain as having to 'defend vulnerable frontiers' against 'illegal' migrants (Jeffers 2012:26-28) arriving to misuse "the benevolence of their host nation" (URL 15).

This resonates with Derrida's (2000b) argument that for the host not to treat the 'other' with hostility but instead as a desirable guest, he or she must be viewed as non-threatening and as having the 'right' to hospitality. Anti-immigration rhetoric describing British hospitality as under threat implies that the British host needs to take back control of its borders and be protective of its generosity. Thus, hospitality is invoked to legitimise more restrictive policies and fortify border controls to keep out those perceived as undeserving, threatening 'strangers' while welcoming deserving, grateful 'guests' willing to contribute to the nation rather than abusing it (Gibson 2016, Ahmed 2000). Hospitality offered by the nation-state to strangers is thus strictly limited and far from the unconditional hospitality which Derrida (2000b) encouraged us to imagine, though such tension should inspire us to strive for a more respectful humanitarian model for living with diversity not entirely driven by the interests of states, Derrida (1999) argued.

#### 4.1.2 Hosts & Guests

Many scholars discussing hospitality and migration have argued for the need to question closures between the roles of host and guest and challenge the notion of home as static and identity as rooted in territory. Researching hospitality and nationalism, Mireille Rosello (2001) argues that many host nations construct immigrants as forever guests to maintain their own power and fix others in a position of dispossession. Though, there is a need to destabilise such an imagined binary between host and guest. Movement to and from 'home' means that it is a mobile, challenged, and reasserted space made up of complex networks of people rather than being associated with fixity and nostalgia. Moreover, the fact that people constantly move into, out of and are between social roles as they negotiate their social belonging means that it is inadequate associating the host with a fixed and bounded home and the guest with mobility and un-belonging (Molz et al. 2016, Ahmed 2000). Hospitality is not about a duality between a dominating, native host and a subjecting guest passively receiving hospitality, Mustafa Dikeç (2002) agrees, but the relation should be understood as an active, social exchange requiring as much engagement from the guests as the hosts, Rachel Turner-King (2018) argues.

Thus, hospitality does not only mean mobilisation for the guest but also for the host as it gives the latter an opportunity to question the self and one's role in the world through the meeting with others (Molz et al. 2016, Ong et al. 2019). As Rosello (2001) argued: "the very precondition of hospitality may require that, in some ways, both the host and the guest accept, in different ways, the uncomfortable and sometimes painful possibility of being changed by the other" (176).

#### 4.1.3 Theatre as a Welcoming Space

Whereas restrictive policies focusing on managing immigration in the UK together with a general hostile environment have made life difficult for refugees and asylum seekers at the national level, many organisations and charities at the local level have taken on the role as welcoming and supporting immigrants. Most contemporary refugee theatre in Europe is concerned with challenging suspicion and mistrust against asylum seekers and refugees and have therefore opened up hospitable spaces to take more ethical actions towards people and raise awareness about the hostile conditions they encounter (Jeffers 2012).

According to Dikeç (2002), hospitality is more than a generous welcome or tolerance of the 'stranger', it is about "giving spaces to the stranger where recognition on both sides would be possible" (229, emphasis in original). Rather than reducing the 'stranger' to an

'other', hospitality is about opening up spaces where we can engage in acts of solidarity and where contestation of one-sided perspectives can take place. Applied theatre with refugees and asylum seekers have contributed to building such spaces, Helen Nicholson (2014) and Alison Jeffers (2012) argue, where self-representation and different viewpoints can be expressed. Jeffers (ibid) stresses that theatre offers a possibility of alternative narratives to the stories of victimhood and trauma which asylum seekers have to perform to authorities to fit the category of helpless and deserving 'refugee', and instead share complex experiences of refugees and positive stories of personal agency (Jeffers 2008). It resonates with Nicholson (2014:174) who argues that the power of participatory theatre-making lies in the possibility it offers to create a space where questions can be asked about whose stories and truths are told and accepted, new insights be generated, and fixed binaries between self and other and identity and difference can be challenged and deconstructed.

#### 4.1.4 Facilitators & Participants

In contemporary theatre, the roles between who is acting host and guest and what it means to be theatre participant, artist, producer, and audience have increasingly been blurred (Nicholson 2014:3). As Turner-King (2018) argues, the participant in applied theatre is never just passively receiving hospitality from the facilitator-as-host, because the former's active engagement and cooperation is crucial to the theatre form.

The facilitator is important in making the cooperation possible in the first place and in nurturing a positive environment over time (Turner-King 2018), but as Nicholson (2014) emphasises, the facilitator's role is "not to *give* participants a voice – with all the hierarchical and authoritarian implications that phrase invokes – but to create spaces and places which enable the participants' voices to be heard" (169, emphasis in original). The intention, facilitation, and resources of the facilitators are thus crucial for creating a space where participants can make themselves heard and issues of inequalities can be addressed (Kaptani et al. 2021), but this must not lead to a dependency on professionals, Anne Smith (2014) emphasises. It is important to foster what she calls a 'culture of agency' for a more balanced relationship between participants and facilitators and for long-term impacts beyond the duration of the theatre project. Whereas many participants might feel disempowered by their immigration status or lacking language skills,

creatively collaborating, using one's skills and the power to act and make choices is often linked to improved mental health and a stronger sense of emotional belonging to a group.

#### 4.2 Conviviality

#### 4.2.1 Living with Diversity

In light of the current multiplication of diversity in the UK, it is important to understand the often contradictory and complex nature of lived encounter and "the ways people live together successfully, how they envision a modus of co-vivendi and what strategies they create in order to practice it" (Nowicka et al. 2014:342). To do this, more social scientists are now using the concept of conviviality to explore the ways people live together in diverse urban spaces (see for example Tyler 2017, Wise et al. 2014, Erickson 2011, Wessendorf 2016). Such researchers across disciplines are increasingly concerned with empirically grounded research (Vertovec 2007a) which shifts attention to people's lived experiences and the everyday "making of *competent* multicultural populations" (Neal et al. 2013:315, emphasis in original).

The concept of conviviality used in this study derives from the Latin verb *convivere* (Morawska 2014:357) and Spanish verb *convivir* which means "to live together/to share the same life" (Overing et al. 2000:xiii). The important contributor to the discussion, Paul Gilroy (2004), describes conviviality as a process of cohabitation and interaction embedded in social practice not free from tensions and conflicts. Conviviality is "a social pattern in which different metropolitan groups dwell in close proximity, but where their racial, linguistic and religious particularities do not" (...) "add up to the discontinuities of experience or insuperable problems of communication" (2006:40).

Conviviality is a practical and dynamic process of human interacting through which cultural identities, differences, and belonging are constantly being negotiated in real time (Gilroy 2006, Neal et al. 2013). Contrary to the controversial concept of multiculturalism, scholars such as Duru (2020) and Back et al. (2016) emphasise how conviviality does not assume fixed boundaries between homogenous groups forever defined and distinguished from the rest of society according to their culture, ethnicity, or religion, but acknowledges

that solidarities and social ties are formed beyond the border of the group<sup>14</sup>. As Gilroy (2014) argues: "the radical openness that brings conviviality alive makes a nonsense of closed, fixed, and reified identity and turns attention toward the always-unpredictable mechanisms of identification" (xi).

Moreover, a strength with conviviality is that it comprehends the ambivalence to diversity through not only acknowledging the positives from living together, but also that misunderstandings, disagreements, and tensions are natural parts of social encounters (Gilroy 2004). Through avoiding romanticising complex human relationships and focusing on the positive outcomes alone, conviviality does not paint a superficial picture of human interaction, which cosmopolitanism has often been criticised for <sup>15</sup> (Valentine 2008, Amin 2002). A great emphasis is instead placed on meetings between people and embracing rather than avoiding messy aspects of diversity (Holdsworth 2010). Conviviality thus seeks to find shared ways of living together with both similarities and differences, including factors such as ethnicity, place of origin, language, gender, likes, and dislikes. It is about acknowledging that we can learn from encounters with others and build a sense of belonging across such heterogenous relationships, rather than it is a strive for homogeneity and sameness (Valentine 2008, Rzepnikowska 2016).

#### 4.2.2 Beyond Fleeting Meetings

Scholarly debates have focused on "whether conviviality can be achieved (socially engineered) at all, or whether it is just going to happen" (Nowicka et al. 2015:13). Moreover, a substantial amount of research has been concerned with discussing whether simple contact between people automatically move us towards a cosmopolitan society with fewer prejudices or whether super-diversity will naturally increase conflict (see for example Askins 2016, Valentine 2008, Dixon et al. 2003, Rzepnikowska 2016, Isike 2017).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> More scholars have among other criticised the concept of 'multiculturalism' because they argue that it assumes that members of an ethnic minority community build their identity mainly on an imported "cultural agenda" (Vertovec et al. 2005:10). In accordance with cultural essentialism, a multi-cultural society is understood to consist of many bounded and fixed sub-cultures where people are forever divided due to their different cultures, and what unites people beyond such group belonging, for example what they have in common as parents, co-workers and neighbours, is undermined. Conviviality, on the contrary, allows for transition, ambivalence and overlapping with communities and cultures (ibid, Duru 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> 'Cosmopolitanism' is commonly interpreted as a detachment from communities and loyalties, where human selves are viewed as being in lasting fluidity (Morawska 2014:360). Along with the criticism above, scholars such as Noble (2013) have criticised cosmopolitanism for being a moral ideal concerned with an individual ability of self-reflexivity rather than with the achievement of capacities through social relations.

Advocates of contact hypothesis claim that people's natural concern with difference can be diminished and prejudices and stereotypes weakened through regular contact with others. The city is often viewed as a cosmopolitan site where strangers meet, for example through mixed housing or at workplaces, and where cultural difference dissolve naturally to change negative attitudes towards others (Valentine 2008).

Crucially, much recent research has emphasised the complex dynamics in social relations and that there is no straightforward correlation between proximity, multi-ethnic mixes, and meaningful relations leading to social transformation. Studying mixed housing, Ash Amin (2002) suggests that a certain "colour composition of an area" (968) say little about the level of segregation and community cohesion, as mixed estates can experience issues with interethnic tension and cultural isolation, while neighbourhoods with little ethnocultural diversity not necessarily are spaces of trouble. Therefore, we must distinguish between contact leading to tolerance and contact leading to actual meaningful encounters characterised by respect for others.

#### 4.2.3 Meaningful Encounters with Diversity through Theatre

The theoretical concept of conviviality has been used in research on migration and race, but not yet been applied widely as an analytical lens to study the connection between conviviality and the arts (Ong et al. 2019). Following Gilroy's (2006:43) view that convivial socialities can flourish in creative, bottom-up and unruly modes of social interaction and co-production, Turner-King (2018) argues that community theatres are "potential sites of everyday multiculturalism and hospitality – spaces where the messiness of different social, cultural, and ethnic identities collide and coalesce" (424), therefore making them excellent for studying meaningful encounters and living with diversity.

Holdsworth (2010) connects Gilroy's (2014) notion of a 'convivial culture' as "cultivated when mundane encounters with difference become rewarding" (75) with theatre. Whereas much ethnographic research on conviviality in multicultural cities has been concerned with fleeting meetings taking place in public spaces such as parks, cafes, or mixed housing estates (Tyler 2017:1900), creative collaboration and sustained contact over participatory theatre-making has greater potential to foster meaningful and rewarding encounters. Theatre-making usually relies on intimate interaction and collaboration between participants contributing with their different skills and experiences and engaging

in and cooperating over a range of theatre practices such as listening, looking, responding, movement, and interaction over a longer period of time (Holdsworth 2010).

Meaningful collaborations are believed to not only have personal benefits for the individual participants, but it can also potentially build dialogue and enable strong emotional bonds between the contributors (Jeffers 2012, Nicholson 2014). Importantly, we must not assume that participatory theatre practice is always inherently transformative and empowering. Despite the beneficent intentions behind, relationships are not always trusting between the participants and facilitators, the degree of participation and interaction between the involved parts varies, and the socio-political climate surrounding the theatre group can affect the participants' abilities to use their voice and be listened to in life outside the group (Nicholson 2014, de Smet et al. 2018).

Furthermore, building meaningful convivial modes of sociality between theatre participants takes time and requires some strengthening and directionality from the facilitator's side to foster a sense of common goal (Ong et al. 2019, Turner-King 2018). Moreover, such collaborations do not entail an absence of tensions and disagreement. Creating inclusive spaces and collaborating over participatory theatre with diverse groups of people are unpredictable and messy practices. Birgitte Ravn Olesen (2020) argues that contradictions, frustrations, and ambiguous power dynamics are always at play in participatory theatre-making no matter someone's intentions. Tensions are a natural part of knowledge production with people of different positions of power, but they can also be a source of creativity and learning to communicate better across differences.

## 5 Methodology

#### 5.1 Finding my Informants

I reached out to Mafwa Theatre after coming across the company during the online preparations for Refugee Week 2021, and the two co-producers Keziah Berelson and Tamsin Cook became my gatekeepers to the field and the participants.

Though, finding informants to interview turned out to be challenging. Whereas my initial focus was entirely on the Mawfa members' experiences, a low number of interviewees meant that I had to broaden my focus to include the experiences of the facilitators and a volunteer.

#### 5.2 Qualitative Methods of Data Collection

To answer my research questions, I have chosen to use qualitative research methods and take an ethnographic approach. Ethnography is suitable for this study as I am concerned with getting rich and deep data about the women's experiences and feelings through a proximity to my informants and the field site (Brockington et al. 2003, O'Reilly 2012).<sup>16</sup>

#### 5.2.1 Semi-structured Interviews

My primary method for collecting data was through individual semi-structured interviews carried out synchronously online via the conference tool Zoom with five Mafwa members and one of the Mafwa co-producers, and in person with the other co-producer and a volunteer<sup>17</sup>. I interviewed everyone individually for them to be able to talk openly about their experiences from the group.

Since my research questions demanded an insight into the informants' thoughts and experiences, I chose to focus on fewer and deeper interviews where I asked many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Throughout the degree project, I have been governed by a constructivist ontology i.e., a belief that social life and meanings are constructed by the interactions between social actors and are in constant negotiation and revision (Bryman 2012:33). It means that I, for example, view the interviews with my informants as conversations in which we together co-construct and co-produce knowledge. Furthermore, I have taken the epistemological position of interpretivism as I strive to gain access to the informants' thoughts and understand their lived experiences of participatory theatre practice. Important to keep in mind when doing constructivist qualitative research is that a double interpretation is going on as I, the researcher, make my own interpretations of the participants' interpretations and thus present my specific version of the social reality rather than a neutral, objective conception of reality (ibid).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The interviews lasted between 40-75 minutes depending on how much the informants had to say.

questions and let the informants talk freely about topics which they found relevant (Bryman 2012).

A semi-structured form of interviewing was chosen to enable a more conversational dialogue<sup>18</sup>. While closed questions led to fixed answers needed for the research, open questions allowed the informants to bring up topics they found interesting<sup>19</sup>. Moreover, I was concerned with formulating straight-forward questions with a simple language to avoid misunderstanding as four of the Mafwa members' mother tongues were not English.

#### 5.2.2 Participant Observation

My second method for collecting data was participant observation, a multimethod which gave me the opportunity to gain first-hand experience from participating in drama activities while directly observing the participants' behaviour and group dynamics and informally conversing with the women (McKechnie 2008). Between March and August 2021, I carried out participant observations during 6 online and 3 physical theatre sessions lasting 1-1,5 hours.

I adopted a role that best fits what Bryman (2012:442) calls 'participating observer' and McKechnie (2008:2) calls the 'observer-as-participant' as I participated more in the different activities and conversations than I observed<sup>20</sup>.

As the participant observations mainly took place online, the research was characterised by limited face-to-face communication and possibilities to informally converse with the participants which is usually a strength of participant observation. Nevertheless, participant observation enabled observing group interaction and individual behaviour, and cross-checking my interpretations from the individual interviews and drama sessions.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See the interview guide in appendix 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Such flexible approach admittedly meant the interviews going off-topic at times and lasting longer, but it also enabled a conversational flow where I could naturally ask follow-up questions for clarification and more detail.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> My role changed throughout the participant observation. During the online sessions I would regularly present my project and at times take notes while participating which made my role as researcher more visual, whereas I during the face-to-face workshops would fully participate.

#### 5.2.3 Document Analysis

Besides individual interviews and participant observation, I analysed both online and written materials which helped me get a better picture of the work and the projects which the theatre company and drama group have been involved with. Materials such as the Mafwa website and an academic article written by Keziah and Tamsin (Berelson et al. 2019) together with a podcast (URL 16) and recipe book created by the members for the project 'Cooking with Parveen' were studied.

#### 5.3 Analysing the data

I am neither able to nor interested in trying to replicate or generalise from the data collected during my small qualitative study<sup>21</sup>, but am instead concerned with validity and confidence in my research findings. I chose to use triangulation<sup>22</sup> for my research which enabled me to compare my findings from the individual interviews with those from the participant observation and the different written, audial, and visual materials for a richer dataset to analyse.

Moreover, I chose an inductive approach to guide the analysis of my data which meant that I started analysing my findings from the interviews and participant observation already during the process of collection, making it an ongoing interplay. In going back and forward between collecting and analysing data, I also kept formulating and sharpening my research questions and developing my theoretical framework.<sup>23</sup>

#### 5.4 Ethical Considerations & Reflexivity

In the project presentations and the consent form signed by the interviewees, I informed about the purpose of the study, that participation was voluntarily and anonymous<sup>24</sup>, and the information shared confidential and used for this study only. In accordance with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> The unique interactions taking place between the Mafwa members and I happened in a specific context at a specific time. Another researcher conducting a similar study by replicating my choice of research methods, asking the same questions, and picking similar informants would, therefore, never end up with the exact same study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> 'Triangulation' is the inclusion of more than one method or data source in a study (Bryman 2012:392).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> During this process, the interview transcripts and field notes were coded manually to identify and organise the main themes which I found relevant for the analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The participants have all been given pseudonyms and no personal information which can be traced back to them is revealed.

O'Reilly (2012) and Bryman (2012), I believe this contributed to the informants feeling better informed and confident with me interviewing them.<sup>25</sup>

As Scheyvens et al. (2003) point out, it is important to consider what we can give back to our informants. Gift giving can be a delicate issue<sup>26</sup>, though, I decided to offer the Mafwa members a £5 food voucher for their time as this form of compensation had been used with external researchers before. The participants shared both positives and negatives from the theatre sessions and seemed little motivated by the voucher which makes me think that it had a minimal effect on our conversations. Nevertheless, as a researcher I must be aware of the possibility the compensation could have had on the answers given by the interviewees.

Furthermore, my position as a privileged, white university student from northern Europe mastering English is very different from that of some of the informants. To downplay my position as researcher and be sensitive to power relations between me and the informants, I strived for an informal and relaxed interview climate where the interviewees could talk freely without me interrupting. I also kept the informants' past experiences in mind and respectfully approached any sensitive areas with care.<sup>27</sup>

Doing research online during a global pandemic gave the study a different nature and posed some challenges. Like many researchers working digitally, I struggled to build rapport and find interviewees (UTS 2020) which I believe was affected by factors such as little in-person interaction with the Mafwa members, a sense of 'Zoom fatigue' expressed by many of the participants, and more of the women struggling with their mental health. Also, it is possible that I excluded people being less digitally capable, as the interviewees needed sufficient computer skills to answer emails, use Zoom, and sign the online consent form.<sup>28</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> All interviews were recorded giving me the possibility to focus all my attention on the interview. If anyone would have expressed discomfort with recording the interviews, I would have taken notes instead.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> As it, for example, runs the risk of reiterating socio-economic inequalities or the informants providing the researcher with certain responses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> However, I also enjoyed a positional advantage as a female researcher. Being a woman was crucial for entering the female-only space and for the women feeling comfortable and open with me interviewing and observing them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Nevertheless, some advantages with doing research online were that no travel time or expenses were needed, and the participants could thus speak from the comfort of their homes.

Finally, I chose not to use an interpreter for the study as an interpreter's presence is likely to affect the interview and adds uncertainty to whether the conversation is being interpreted correctly and transmitted in the right way<sup>29</sup> (Davies 2008). I formulated simple questions and emphasised the possibility of repeating and reformulating questions during our conversations, but I am aware that this meant excluding women with low English skills. Had it been a more comprehensive study, I would have used an interpreter.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Perhaps increasingly so when carrying out interviews online as technical issues with unstable internet connections and disturbances in sound can affect the communication.

### 6 Analysis

#### 6.1. A Welcoming Community

#### 6.1.1 Hospitality at the Local Level

Unlike the border controls of Britain, there are no prerequisites needed to gain access to the Mafwa Theatre group. Besides from being a woman, the theatre space is open to people with diverse backgrounds, from different age groups and whose past experiences and skills vary. It is thus a hospitable space where all women are perceived as desirable guests no matter their ethnic, cultural, social, or linguistic background.

Maya and Yasmina<sup>30</sup> stress how they have found a space where they feel welcome and accepted, and the warmth and respect from the theatre group has meant a lot to them since the life changing challenge of starting over in a new country. Isa too emphasises how hard it has been for her to come to the UK and meet people in a place where she has not always felt welcome. However, the theatre group gives her the possibility to laugh and forgot the outside world for a while.

One of the main motivations for the co-producers Keziah Berelson and Tamsin Cook to start the theatre group was precisely to challenge the hostility which asylum seekers and refugees often meet in the UK<sup>31</sup>. This resonates with the point mentioned earlier by de Smet et al. (2018) that the macro dramaturgy, such as the surrounding political and social structures, often enter the micro-dramaturgical theatre space and affect the motivations and strategies for doing participatory community theatre. The two facilitators decided to set up the group for women whom they stress are often especially isolated at home and have a lot of time on their hands. During my conversation with the Mafwa volunteer and participant Aine, she emphasises how important she believes the friendly space is for newcomers within the hostile climate in the UK:

"There are so many barriers that people who're coming to this country have to get through and, like...there kind of has to be things like Mafwa in order for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> As mentioned earlier, all Mafwa members were given pseudonyms to protect their identity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Initially at the borders and later within in the country due to cuts in funding for integration and English classes and asylum seekers being prohibited from working, both Keziak and Tamsin emphasise during the individual interviews.

people to connect with other people and the city, otherwise I think it would be really hard for many...and isolating" [...] "The group is really not just about making performance or even doing drama, it's a lot more than that to people...it's just as much about community"

Such community, Tamsin explains, is all about creating connections between people who might otherwise pass each other in the street and never have conversations. Her hope has always been for the personal connections and sense of community to ripple outside the theatre sessions.

#### 6.1.2 A Space for Fun & Relaxation

All interviewed Mafwa members mention how comfortable they feel in the group as participation happens on each person's terms and at a pace that fits one's personal needs. Maya explains how there is no pressure on anyone to be active during the initial sessions. Everyone is given the space needed until they feel comfortable and ready to join the activities. Likewise, Yasmina and Laura point out that if one has a bad day or simply do not feel like taking part in certain activities, everyone respects that the persons just wants to sit and watch. The focus is on what every person can deal with that day.

From the individual interviews and group conversations during my participant observation, I realise that the women come to the sessions for various reasons. Some have been referred from organisations for mental health reasons while others have been recommended the group by friends. And whereas most were motivated by a desire to meet people and feel less lonely, some already had a passion for the arts and theatre.

One of the main motivators for joining the theatre group mentioned by all five interviewed Mafwa members is the possibility to have fun together with others in a relaxing environment without being judged. The weekly drama sessions are precisely about experimenting together over fun activities suitable for all and being able to laugh at oneself, Keziah explains. From my participant observation, I notice how the group always starts with an easy warm-up exercise and finishes with a cool-down activity which often

cause many laughs. Moreover, the group activities are uncomplicated and cooperative, explained with simple language and visually demonstrated for everyone to understand.<sup>32</sup>



Images of Mafwa members engaging in movement exercises. From Twitter: @MafwaTheatre. Photo: Tom Arber.

The themes of the drama sessions, Tamsin explains, reflect the wishes of the Mafwa members:

"When we ask members what they want to talk about, people keep saying: 'We want to come here for fun or to have a laugh, we don't want to think about our pasts or traumatic experiences, we don't want to go over them with you', so it's just not what they want this space to be for"

Moreover, as the Mafwa members showed little interest during the Covid-19 pandemic in working with their emotions and experiences around lockdown, Aine explains that her focus was instead on bringing selfcare and movement into the sessions. She was working on the women reconnecting with their bodies and having fun over easy physical exercises in a time where many felt lonely and found it hard to motivate themselves to leave the house. When asking her about engaging with topics not related to the participants' past experiences she says:

"I actually, interestingly, don't know everyone's story of immigration...But maybe, in a way, there's also something about this space ...it isn't to talk about that or deal with that, because yeah...that's not their whole identity."

Thus, whereas much participatory theatre practice with refugees and asylum seekers is concerned with telling stories of past experiences of pain, suffering and trauma, the

30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See a brief description of the drama sessions and different exercises and activities during which I did participant observation in appendix 3.

Mafwa women wish to work with topics of comfort and use the space for socialising and enjoyment. An advantage of such focus on a spirit of play and fun, Smith (2014) argues, is that it is hard for people to feel that they are wrong or cannot contribute which can feel especially liberating for people who struggle with feelings of shame around low language skills and coping with everyday challenges.



Images of Mafwa members engaging in creative activities and drama exercises. From Twitter: @MafwaTheatre. Photo: Tom Arber.

#### 6.1.3 Personal Benefits from Theatre-making

As is often the case with community theatre, engaging in drama was a completely new and personally challenging experience for many of the Mafwa members. Sara explains how she felt when attending the Friday sessions for the first time and the instant lift it gave her:

"I didn't feel shy or embarrassed...I loved performing in a funny way and had so much fun with the other woman I had to do it with. If you met me before Mafwa Theatre, I would say no to everything. I never think I would be able to do all this...now I tell myself: You can do it!"

She continues talking about the personal transformation she has experienced and how supported she feels by the other group members and facilitators:

"Cooking, cleaning, being stressed with the family...you start becoming a robot...you don't have any feeling, any target actually. You always do things for people, not for yourself...but finally I find a place who can listen to me and where I can develop" [...] "I feel like I'll never give up these people and this place now. I feel like I've found myself after all. I have a target now and I'm finally doing this for myself because it's something I love...not something for others or

to please others. If you have the right group around you, the right people, you feel the energy and love...they can make you fly"

Maya explains how she during the years prior to joining Mafwa Theatre felt isolated and lonely, but that participating in the group is now gets her out of the house to meet others. She describes performing on stage with Mafwa Theatre for the first time in the following way:

"I never imagined myself I would be performing, or be on a stage – ever!...I think of myself as a very shy person...it really made my confident level like...okay, I can do this!"

She too feels a transformation in self-confidence from her participation and the wide support from the Mafwa members and professionals:

"Sometimes, you know, there are a lot of talent and a lot of skills in you but you don't know what to do and where to go with it...and we all have different problems and different stress, and you can feel, like, helpless and hopeless...but when someone out of somewhere is coming and supporting you...when it feels like you have something on your back, supporting you, you think: 'Okay, I will do it, I'll stand straight'"

Even Aine explains how the Zoom sessions and the relationship she has built with the facilitators and the participants helped her during lockdown:

"Sometimes I would go to the sessions and be like: 'Oh yeah, I didn't realise how much I just needed to, you know, dance a bit and laugh with people and share a moment to feel better...and to connect with these women who I otherwise wouldn't have met but who live in nearby communities"

#### 6.1.4 A Community of Care

To more of the interviewed Mafwa members, the weekly drama sessions are a needed opportunity to socialise. With exception of Isa, the other four interviewed members talk about their connection with other theatre participants, something which at times even extends to outside the Friday sessions. Friendships have blossomed in the group, for example have Laura, who is British and one of the youngest Mafwa members, made friends with Mariam<sup>33</sup> one of the oldest participants in the group coming from a very

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 'Mariam' is also a pseudonym.

different background. Laura describes how comfortable she feels around her friend and how Mariam has even been to visit Laura's home. They walk together to the sessions to keep each other company but also to help Mariam find her way to external workshops. Laura says:

"I look at [name] like a sister...if she's not well I'll stay in contact with her [relative] and if it's a Friday, I can tell Tamsin and Keziah how she is and why she's not there"

Yasmina has also made friends and explains how she stays in touch with other members over the phone for support and comfort:

"On the phone we talk about different women's groups or organisations...we ask how we are, talk news...and we call each other...'Hey, we can go together?' and she will say: 'Yeah, come, let's go together'"

During the participant observation, I notice how comfortable the women are around each other, how they chat and make jokes in the group. People have gone from being strangers to at minimum interacting with the other members, and some have even made friends. Nicholson (2014) argues that showing compassion and care for other members, in this case through caring for each other's wellbeing, sharing one's knowledge of the city or stopping for a spontaneous chat in the street, can be psychologically and socially beneficial, and according to Smith (2014), staying in touch over the phone and being able to support each other in various ways outside the theatre sessions can increase the feeling of belonging and connection with the other group members.

In summary, both the members, facilitators and the volunteer describe Mafwa Theatre as a welcoming space where everyone is accepted and respected within a hostile environment at the national level making life difficult for more of the Mafwa members. Instead of utilising the group to process the members' past experiences, it is a place where all women can come to laugh together and forget everyday concerns for a while. For more of the Mafwa members the group is a well-needed space to socialise and connect with others as well as a space for personal growth and improved self-confidence.

I will thus argue that in the context of the reluctance of the British state to offer hospitality to newcomers, Mafwa Theatre tries to do justice to the unconditional hospitality which Derrida encouraged us to imagine. All women are invited to participate without having

to necessarily share their story or show gratitude, and with the only requirement of showing respect for other group members.

#### 6.2 A Cooperation between all Participants

#### 6.2.1 Striving for 'Horizontal relations'

When looking at the roles of the different participants, it is important to recognise that the facilitators are in the advantageous position of having the time and resources to set up the community theatre group, and thus making the cooperation possible in the first place.

The co-producers recognise the social capital and privilege they bring into the theatre, among other as British citizens with a university education. They view their facilitating roles as what they describe as being 'redistributors' of privilege (Berelson et al. 2019) meaning that their focus is on making sure that the women's voices are recognised whilst working to redistribute power and social capital. They are aware of their privileged backgrounds and its effects on the power dynamics in the room while they simultaneously acknowledge that their skills and experiences can be used positively to facilitate the sessions, ensure that the members have access to opportunities, and as Keziah describes it: "are able to tell their own stories on their own terms".

Working to redistribute privilege, Tamsin and Keziah have been experimenting with the different projects being anything from completely participant-led to more structured facilitator-run online sessions during the pandemic. Tamsin describes how they have found a balance in their role as offering and shaping sustainable frameworks around which the women can play and express themselves:

"As much as we want to create a space free of power structures and hierarchy...I don't think it's useful at all to just ask people: 'what do you want to do?' without any kind of reference point. We've tried that and it doesn't work" [...] "I think a lot of practitioners often talk about participation like a bit of a gold standard, to work towards being completely participant led...but because this is such a diverse group without any shared cultural reference point, it's important to offer a structure and...I think I've learned that it's okay to bring a bit of myself and a bit of a final vision into it as long as you're responsive and you can restructure things as and when you go"

The roles which the Mafwa co-producers take thus resonate with how Turner-King (2018) views her role as facilitator as being able to offer the participants a clear structure around which they can feel inspired to experiment, play, and make mistakes.

The two co-producers emphasise how they seek to disrupt hierarchy and strive for 'horizontal relations' in the group (Berelson et al. 2019). How this plays out in practice becomes clear during my participant observation. The Mafwa members are actively involved in making decisions for the group, for example do they work together over a couple of online sessions to come up with a group name. All members are encouraged to think about words such as 'strong', 'powerful', together' and 'sisters' in their mother tongues. The suggestions coming from among other Yoruba, Spanish, French, Arabic, and Afrikaans are written down and the women eventually vote for their favourite name, ending up with 'Kuluhenna Drama'<sup>34</sup>.

I also notice during my participant observation that focus is on the participants contributing in their preferred way and expressing themselves with their own words. Everyone is listened to and different ways of expression is respected, whether through speaking, singing, using body language, or dancing. The women's strong engagement and freedom to self-expression was also obvious during the previous project 'Cooking with Parveen' taking place from October 2019 to September 2020 and being centred around drama, food, and femininity (URL 17). The group made a podcast, 'With our Hands' (URL 16), where it was entirely the Mafwa women's voices we heard when singing and talking on the topic 'imagine a world where food would be free', and in the small recipe book 'Cooking with Parveen - Stories from our Kitchens', the food recipes and poems were written with the women's own words, without anyone perfecting their English.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 'Kuluhenna' means "all of them [women]" in Arabic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> The project 'Cooking with Parveen' involved workshops where the participants cooked, ate, made theatre together, and talked about how food can bring people together. The group had planned a performance in June 2020 during which food was going to be made, but it was cancelled due to the global pandemic. Nevertheless, the Mafwa group kept the project going through chatting online about food and sharing photographs of food, and in between the lockdowns, the participants managed to meet up for a picnic in the park which was documented and later turned into a short film.



Photos showing a recipe and personal story from the 'Cooking with Parveen' recipe book. From Twitter: @MafwaTheatre. Photo: Tom Amber.

# As Tamsin explains:

"We set up the form, the framework, which was making a cookery book but the content, the formulations, drawings and so...it was all up to the participants."

Such joyful celebration of the women's different skill sets and strengths means that no one has to feel that they cannot contribute to the group. Moreover, highlighting the member's individual capacities and voices mean that they are celebrated for their individuality instead of once again falling into the anonymous category of 'refugee women' which is often the case in public discourse and social policies.

#### 6.2.2 Active Co-Creators of the Space

When asking the Mafwa women directly about if they wish to have more control over the sessions, both Maya and Yasmina stress that they want the facilitators to take the lead while continuing to ask the participants for feedback and ideas for potential themes or activities. They were both involved in some of the earlier more participant-led projects and emphasise how the lacking structure and guidance made it difficult to accomplish anything. They feel much more relaxed and comfortable with Tamsin and Keziah leading the participants and supporting them in defining a common goal to work towards.

Just as Nicholson (2014) and Kaptani et al. (2021) point out, both the participants and facilitators stress that the co-producers' intention and facilitation play an important role in fostering a welcoming space where the participants can creatively cooperate, experiment, and express themselves in their preferred way. Though, a clear emphasis is on building what Smith (2014) calls a 'culture of agency' rather than a dependency on professionals. Yasmina, Sara, and Maya enthusiastically talk about recording personal 'soundwalks' of emotional importance to them for the art installation 'Sit With Us' (URL 18) for Refugee Week 2021. They all three stress the excitement of later editing the sound in a studio with a professional who listened carefully to their wishes.



Photos from the art installation 'Sit With Us' showing headphones for listening to the 'soundwalks' and an example of a text by a Mafwa member. From Twitter: @MafwaTheatre. Photos: Tom Arber.

During the individual interviews, I realise how active the Mafwa members are in welcoming and supporting newcomers into the group. Both Maya and Yasmina explain that it can be challenging doing theatre with a diverse group of people because of language barriers, and they have helped interpret for new members in their mother tongues to make them feel welcome and help them understand activities and conversations. The participants thus get to use their unique language skills to help out in languages which the facilitators do not speak. The Mafwa women thus not only receive hospitality and support from the facilitators and other Mafwa members when joining the theatre group, but they also offer hospitality to newcomers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> For the project, four Mafwa members recorded a 'soundwalk' inviting the audience to listen to their story or the surrounding environment during a walk. One Mafwa member, for example, talked about a touching and traumatising story from a UK detention centre, whereas someone else described her feelings and the sounds of walking in snow, partly in Kurdish and in English.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 'Sit With Us' was centred around the themes 'home' and 'comfort' and an interactive art installation was set up in Leeds for Refugee Week (14-21 June 2021). For the installation, the women had made printed textiles to decorate the room, the audience could via earphones listen to recorded 'soundwalks', a short film on movement and creative group activities was shown on a big screen, and comfy seats invited the audience to pick a book on topics such as race and diversity from the shelf and sit down.

Moreover, Yasmina who has plenty of previous acting experience from her home country describes how she has been able to use and share that knowledge with the rest of the group during different projects. As she does not need as much acting guidance from the facilitators, she can instead draw on her experience to come with suggestions and act as co-host through supporting the other women.

Both Maya and Yasmina describe how their participation in building what they describe as a community and the mark they have left on the different projects is something they feel very proud of. They point out how supportive the other participants and the two coproducers are and how comforting it is to feel part of the group where everyone's skills are valued, and opinions listened to. This resonates with Nicholson (2014) who argues that for participants to feel a sense of belonging they need to be recognised as important by others in producing that space.

The strength and determination which many of the women show through participating in and making a real effort for the sake of the group despite struggles in life, is something Keziah finds admirable. Though, both facilitators also emphasise that despite the women being vulnerable to different extends, it does not mean that they are passive, voiceless, or powerless. For example, do many of the women with Mafwa Theatre participate in other creative groups, volunteer, and are active in their communities (Berelson et al. 2019) and one of the informants have done a PhD at a university in England. Maya, Yasmina and Sara are all volunteering with migrants in their communities and both Maya, Isa, and Yasmina are active in choirs, dance, or theatre groups in Leeds. Maya explains how she has used her improved self-confidence to volunteer with and support other female refugees and asylum seekers. She constantly encourages these women to socialise, challenge themselves and try new things like she has done and shares her story of engaging in community theatre and the arts which has given her a better life quality and brought more joy into her life.

To sum it up, the facilitators attempt to use their past experiences and skills to offer sustainable frameworks around which the participants can play and be creative and encourage to 'horizontal relations' where the women actively contribute to shaping the sessions and using their voices. Despite the members expressing that they prefer the facilitators to lead the sessions, my findings show that they are active and proud

contributors to the space, for example, through welcoming newcomers, collectively coming up with a group name, and coming with feedback during the sessions. From the individual interviews as well as the participant observation, I notice a fluidity in the roles of hosts and guests. Rather than the facilitators acting dominating hosts and the members being passive guests, an active engagement is taking place between all participants where different ideas and opinions are listened to.

# 6.3 Embracing Similarities & Differences

# 6.3.1 Realising Commonalities & Negotiating Differences

Just like the co-producers emphasise that both differences and similarities are embraced in the group and seen as a natural part of living with diversity (Berelson et al. 2019), the interviewees express many positives coming from doing theatre with a diverse group. Both Maya and Yasmina highlight how they have learned about different cultures, celebrations, and traditions from other group members and how they, for example, during the project 'Cooking with Parveen' had opportunities to talk about and compare traditions of cooking and eating together in different countries.

Simultaneously with learning from differences within the group, more of the informants also mention having realised commonalities with other group members. Maya mentions how talking to other women from similar backgrounds who share experiences of being restricted within a certain culture or religion has made it easy for her to bond with them. Such a connection makes her feel understood and less lonely. Yasmina emphasises how important it is for her to be able to connect with other women and describes the sense of comfort the female-only space offers her in the following way:

"It is different when man is there too. I like it's only for women. We are ladies and can talk about some things just for women, support each other...And for example, we move our body and...do different movements and dancing. And for me, if the man is coming, I can't do like that! You know?...I'm shy, it's not comfortable when the man is there".

According to Tamsin, single gender-spaces are important for more of the women and enable conversations which would have been impossible to have otherwise. A desire to make all women feel relaxed and not having to worry about jumping around, clothes

moving or looking silly, Keziah explains, was the idea behind making the group for women only.

Rather than bonding over a shared past or former experiences, Laura describes how her close connection with Mariam who comes from a very different background has to do with their similar personalities and shared sense of humour. She does not know much about her friend's migration journey or life before coming to the UK, but they have become friends due to similar personality traits, because they can laugh together, and she feels comfortable and relaxed around Mariam.

### 6.3.2 Tensions & Misunderstandings

The interviews also reveal that the messiness of personalities and identities meet during the sessions which at times causes disagreements and tensions in the group.

Tamsin explains how setting up performances for an audience is not the focus of the group. Due to the chaotic nature of some of the women's lives, they cannot commit to attending sessions regularly and as the facilitators do not want to leave anyone feeling unprepared and vulnerable on stage, focus is instead on strengthening the group bonds. Though, the more ambitious in the group have felt annoyed with those who do not want to or have the energy to put equally much time into rehearsing and working towards public performances, Keziah explains. Therefore, the facilitators decided to create the Associate Artist Program (URL 19), which gives the ones who are willing and capable of spending more time on doing drama and performing or working creatively with writing or singing a space to do that together with a mentor.

The financial situation of more of the women meant challenges when the Theatre company started out and attempted to touch upon sensitive topics of everyday struggles, Tamsin explains:

"When we were trying to talk to people about experiences, to get out of them what was really difficult in life and what they would want to say to powerful people...we would then have people saying: 'it's really hard living of £37 a week' and somebody else would say: 'well, I don't even get that!'...it can be really hard when someone says they don't have enough food to last the week...some of the women are really just trying to survive"

Tensions around money also appeared when the facilitators used to pay the participants' travel expenses back in cash. Some members would accuse others of dishonesty and showing their tickets twice to the facilitators for an extra cash payment. This eventually led the co-producers to instead providing all Mafwa members with a free bus ticket for every attended session.

Misunderstandings between the women have also taken place as some have felt insecure about the other group members' intentions, Tamsin explains. Laura expresses how she sometimes feels ignored by some of the other women who only talk to people they already know and worries about others talking behind her back when they speak a language she does not understand while looking in her direction. It makes her nervous, even though she explains that it might just be a feeling she has. This interestingly does not apply to her good friend Mariam whom she emphasises she trusts, even when Mariam speaks her mother tongue with other people.

Disagreements and discussions will naturally happen in a group, Keziah explains. Her impression is that the Mafwa members work most things out between themselves, but otherwise the facilitators try to face misunderstandings or prejudices by bringing them up during the group sessions. Maya too has noticed how some women get upset at times but also says that it naturally happens in bigger groups. To her it has never changed the friendly and welcoming atmosphere, and she loves coming to the sessions because of the good bond between the participants.

Thus, more of the interviewees express learnings from the encounters with the women and most of them a sense of connection and togetherness with the group, despite the sessions not being free from tensions or misunderstandings. Maya and Yasmina describe a strong bond with the other participants and how the positives by far outweigh what they perceive as minor misunderstandings in the group, whereas Laura enjoys the possibility to get out of the house, challenge herself through drama exercises, and the strong bond she feels with Mariam, but expresses feelings of being ignored and not fully trusting all group members. The strong personal connection with Mariam does thus not mean that she looks at everyone else with the same eyes.

This resonates with Noble's (2009) argument that complex convivial relations should not be simplified, because they can both foster understanding for diversity, the achievement of new capacities and learnings while simultaneous be marked by ambiguity and conflicts. My findings show that the diverse group of women have learned and bonded with each other despite tensions and misunderstandings naturally taking place, but as scholars such as Amin (2002) has pointed out, spaces of super-diversity do not necessarily cause greater conflicts and issues due to diversity. Most of the disagreements and irritations mentioned above by the facilitators and members have more to do with financial struggles, societal inequalities, and ambitions than with ethnic or cultural differences. At the same time, the study shows that simple contact between people of different backgrounds does not automatically lead to an experience of overall trust towards everyone, which was the case for Laura.

The participants bring their different pasts, personalities, and personal struggles into the theatre space, and this will naturally affect their perception of others, and outcomes from the sessions. Rosello (2001) argues that a complete absence of tension and friction would mean fixed roles, but the theatre group is not a bounded, homogenous entity with set roles. The Mafwa members from different backgrounds collaborate over personally challenging artistic practice, interact with the co-producers, volunteers and different professional artists at the same time as new members regularly join which all naturally affects the group dynamic. The space given for people to express their opinions in the group also enables contestation and negotiation of the social roles between all participants.

In summary, more of the participants express having learned from the women's differences, for example in terms of cultures and traditions, at the same time as they have bonded over anything from being women and sharing past societal and cultural experiences to having similar senses of humour and personalities. The findings show that the theatre group is not a space free from misunderstandings and tensions, though, how the interviewees view disagreements and the other members varies. The interviewees describe the sessions as personally and socially rewarding and all express that the negatives do not outweigh the positive outcomes or personal benefits coming from participating in the group.

# 7 Conclusion

The first research question was concerned with the meaning of the Mafwa Theatre space to the different participating women. My findings from the individual interviews reveal that the interviewees perceive it as a meaningful and welcoming space where all women can feel accepted and respected for who they are, no matter where they come from, and what skills they bring to the group. Moreover, most of the participants express a sense of belonging to the group and a feeling of a community which has been strengthened over time between the participants and facilitators.

Socialising, having fun, and cooperating over creative practice on a weekly basis offers the Mafwa members an opportunity to escape day-to-day struggles. Also, being able to express themselves as individuals means that they are not defined solely by their past experiences and official status as refugees and asylum seekers. The group is indeed a place where hospitality is shown on a small scale to challenge the hostile environment which refugees and asylum seekers encounter on a national level.

The focus of the group is less on mobilising the participants or audiences towards public and political action and more on strengthening the group bonds and enhancing personal capacities and agency through participatory theatre-making. Even though many of the benefits and transformations described by the participants are at a personal level, such improved social and English skills, increased self-confidence, and improvements in mental health are likely to affect their families and society too. For example, did Maya describe how she uses her confidence and past experiences to support other female asylum seekers and refugees living in Leeds.

Second, I was concerned with how the participants perceive their role in the theatre group. Examining the participants' perceptions via interviews and participant observation, encourages me to interpret the relationship between hosts and guests as dynamic. Whereas the sessions are enabled and facilitated by the co-producers, and occasionally by the volunteer, acting as initial hosts, the participants are invited to not only be active co-producers in artistic practice but also to be co-creators of shaping a hospitable space and a 'convivial culture' where members can feel welcome, supported, and respected. For example, do the interviewees explain how the facilitators and Mafwa members share the responsibility for welcoming new members into the group and during my participant observation, the participants were actively involved with coming up with a group name.

Moreover, a 'culture of agency' is prevalent where the professionals are there to encourage the women and support their ideas rather than telling them what to do. An example was given about the Mafwa members active engagement in shaping the content for the 'Cooking with Parveen' recipe book and recording and editing the 'soundwalks' for the project 'Sit With Us'. In general, all forms of expression are welcome, and the participants' individual skills and abilities valued.

The participants are thus actively engaged in a social exchange where the roles between the facilitator as the classic host and the participants as guests are in fluidity. The study shows that the Mafwa members are active contributors to the theatre group with a desire to socialise and improve their life situations, rather than fitting the popular image in print media and political discourses of the voiceless and disempowered asylum seeker and refugee women.

Finally, I was concerned with how the participants perceive diversity in the theatre group. The convivial experience described by the interviewees allows for the women's different personalities, language skills, cultural and religious backgrounds to come together. More of the participants mention an increased understanding for other cultures and traditions and having bonded over similar personalities or a sense humour, a desire to belong or shared experiences as women. The theatre group thus offers the women an opportunity to go beyond the first impression of others and get to know women from diverse backgrounds.

The findings showed that cooperating over theatre-making and engaging in complex human relationships clearly do not happen without misunderstandings and tensions. Disagreements or moments of irritation among other took place over finances and lacking ambitions but interestingly not due to cultural or ethnic diversities. The interviews also showed differences in perceptions of the other members and their intentions which proofs that theatre-making does not take place in a vacuum, but rather people bring their personal experiences, struggles, and prejudices into the space. In general, the diversity in the group is not described as something problematic for the hospitable and supporting atmosphere in the group or something to fear by the different participants, but when mentioned by the interviewees it is rather embraced as something to learn from.

A combined conceptual framework of hospitality and conviviality was beneficial for the study. The concept of hospitality helped me shed light on the different forms of hospitality

which can simultaneously take place at the national and local level and how different actors are involved in the engagement of shaping hospitable spaces. Conviviality helped me draw attention to routine social interactions taking place on the ground with a group of women from socially, culturally, and ethnically diverse backgrounds and better understand how complex human relations and meaningful encounters are successfully lived and formed at the local level.

I believe that studies like this one is important for the reason pointed out by Gilroy (2004): "We need to know what sorts of insight and reflection might actually help increasingly differentiated societies and anxious individuals to cope successfully with the challenges involved in dwelling comfortably in proximity to the unfamiliar without becoming fearful and hostile" (3).

#### 7.1 Future Research

It is important to point out that a continuation of this study and the inclusion of more data and responses from the different participants could have revealed different viewpoints and perspectives. Continuing my participant observation for a longer period of time would have given me the possibility to further interact with the participants, watch the group dynamics, possibly experience group tensions in person, and maybe even follow the group in the process of setting up a performance. Strengthened rapport and access to more key informants could also have enabled the inclusion of focus groups which might have led to discussions of relevant topics brought up by the participants which I did not think of for my individual interviews.

For future research and work with societal diversity and building welcoming spaces, I would suggest that researchers and policymakers do not underestimate the use of the arts and theatre. This study has shown that there is a demand for public spaces where people can socialise, have fun, and collaborate over creative activities in an informal and relaxing environment, and that such engagements can have multiple benefits for the people in question and society at large. Meaningful encounters via the arts can foster better understanding between people, a feeling of belonging, strengthen self-confidence, and support people in building creative and personal skills. Such strengthened capacities can enable people to actively engage in wider society and help address issues of lacking community cohesion which is the concern of much government policy.

Therefore, encouraging arts-based initiatives and continuous funding to charities and organisations such as Mafwa Theatre working towards inclusive communities is crucial. Keeping public spaces open is important to enable meaningful encounters between people who might not otherwise meet, and challenge one-sided perspectives in public discourses.

This study is also a reminder to scholars carrying out future research within the field of ComDev to pay more attention to the process of doing arts or drama and the dynamics between participants in addition to examining the outcomes of creative projects in terms of the final performances and arts installations. Paying attention to the interactions and dynamics during the weekly sessions helped me reach a nuanced understanding of what the theatre space means to the different women, the roles the participants take in the group, and how they view each other. Focusing entirely on the outcome of the sessions such a public performance would have said little about the people behind, their motivations, and the dynamics between the women.

Importantly, this study is an example of the many people who are confronted with diversity in everyday life in the UK and coexist along each other with among others ethnic and cultural differences, despite the focus in public debates on issues with segregation and hostility. I believe that more empirical studies on hospitable spaces and fostering meaningful convivial relations embracing both similarities and differences could contribute to further challenging and nuancing popular stories in the media and politics and lead public debates away from picturing people's differences as causes of crisis, panic, and conflict.

# 8 References

#### **Books & Journals**

Ahmed, S. (2000) *Strange Encounters: Embodied Others in Post-Coloniality*. London and New York: Routledge.

Amin, A. (2002) Ethnicity and the multicultural city: living with diversity. *Environment and Planning A*, Vol. 34: 959-980.

Ashcroft, R. & Bevir, M. (2017). Multiculturalism in contemporary Britain: policy, law and theory. Critical review of International Social and Political Philosophy, Vol. 21(1): 1-21.

Askins, K. (2016) Emotional citizenry: everyday geographies of befriending, belonging and intercultural encounter. *Royal Geographic Society*, Vol. 41: 515-527.

Back, L. & Sinha, S. (2016) Multicultural Conviviality in the Midst of Racism's Ruins. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, Vol. 37(5): 517-532.

Berelson, K. & Cook, T. (2019) Recognizing voice and redistributing power: Community theatre with refugees and asylum seekers in Leeds. *Performing Ethos*, Vol. 9: 67-79.

Borisenko, L. (2016) 'The Collapsible Space Between Us': Refugee Theatre as a Tool of Resilience in Kenya. *The Canadian Journal of Peace and Conflict Studies*, Vol. 48(1-2): 145-172.

Brockington, D. & Sullivan, S. (2003) Qualitative Research in Scheyvens, R. & Storey, D. (2003) *Development Fieldwork: A Practical Guide*. 1<sup>st</sup> edition. London: Sage.

Bryman, A. (2012) Social Research Methods, Oxford University Press.

Chamberlain, J. A. (2020) Responsibility for Migrants: From Hospitality to Solidarity. *Political Theory*, Vol. 48(1): 57-83.

Chukwu-Okoronkwo, S. O. (2020) Re-enacting Theatre for Development: Examining the unique Role of Theatre in Development Communication. *Journal of Development Communication*, Vol. 32(1): 57-65.

Clammer, J. (2012) Culture, Development and Social Theory: Towards an Integrated Social Development. Zed Books.

Davies, C. (2008) *Reflexive Ethnography: a guide to researching selves and others*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Routledge.

Derrida, J, (1999) Adieu to Emmanuel Levinas. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Derrida, J. (2000a) 'Hospitality', Angelaki: *The Journal of Theoretical Humanities*, Vol. 5(3): 3-18.

Derrida, J. (2000b) *Of Hospitality: Anne Dufourmantelle Invited Jacques Derrida to Respond.* trans. Bowlby, R. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press Books.

de Smet, S., de Haene, L., Rousseau, C. & Stalpaert, C. (2018) 'Behind every stone awaits an Alexander': unravelling the limits of participation within micro and macro dramaturgy of participatory refugee theatre. *Research in Drama Education: The Journal of Applied Theatre and Performance*, Vol. 23(2): 242-258.

Dikeç, M. (2002) Pera Peras Poros: Longings for Spaces of Hospitality. *Theory, Culture and Society*, Vol. 19: 227–247.

Dixon, J.A. & Durrheim, K. (2003) Contact and the Ecology of Racial Division: Some Varieties of Informal Segregation. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, Vol. 42: 1-23.

Duru, D. N. (2020) A Convivial Journey: From Diversity in Istanbul to Solidarity with Refugees in Denmark in Hemer, O., Frykman, M. P. & Ristilammi, P-M. (2020) *Conviviality at the Crossroads: The Poetics and Politics of Everyday Encounters*. Palgrave Macmillan.

Epskamp, K. (2006) Theatre for Development: An Introduction to Context, Applications and Training. London Zed.

Erickson, B. (2011). Utopian virtues: Muslim neighbors, ritual sociality, and the politics of convivencia. *American Ethnologist*, Vol. 38(1): 114-131.

Flynn, A. & Tinius, J. (2015) *Anthropology, Theatre, and Development: The Transformative Potential of Performance*. Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Freire, P. (1970) *Pedagogy of the oppressed*. New York: Continuum.

Gibson, S. (2016) in Molz, J. G. & Gibson, S. (2016) *Mobilizing Hospitality: The Ethics of Social Relations in a Mobile World*. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Gilroy, P. (2004) After Empire: Melancholia or Convivial Culture?, Abingdon: Routledge.

Gilroy, P. (2006) Multiculture in times of war: an inaugural lecture given at the London School of Economics. *Critical Quarterly*, Vol. 48(4): 27-44.

Goodwin, M. & Milazzo, C. (2017) Taking back control? Investigating the role of immigration in the 2016 vote for Brexit in *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 2017, Vol. 19(3): 450-464.

Griffiths, M. & Yeo, C. (2021) The UK's hostile environment: Deputising immigration control. *Critical Social Policy*, Vol. 00(0): 1–24.

Holdsworth, N. (2010) Theatre & Nation. Red Globe Press.

Horghagen, S. & Josephsson, S. (2010) Theatre as liberation, collaboration and relationship for asylum seekers. *Journal of Occupational Science*, Vol. 17(3): 168-176.

Hugo, G. (2015) *Migrants in society: diversity and cohesion*. A paper prepared for the Policy Analysis and research Programme of the Global Commission on International Migration: 1-51.

Isike, E. M (2017) A Contact Theory Analysis of South Africans' Perceptions of Nigerian Immigration in *African Population Studies* Vol.31(1): 3225-3233.

Jeffers, A. (2008) Dirty truth: personal narrative, victimhood and participatory theatre work with people seeking asylum. *Research in Drama Education*, Vol. 13(2): 217-221.

Jeffers, A. (2012) *Refugees, Theatre and Crisis: Performing Global Identities*. Performance Interventions. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Jenkins, R. (2014) Social Identity, Routledge.

Kaptani, E., Erel, U., O'Neill, M. & Reynolds, T. (2021) Methodological Innovation in Research: Participatory Theater with Migrant Families on Conflicts and Transformations over the Politics of Belonging. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugees Studies*, Vol. 19(1): 68-81.

Kerr, D. (2014) Theatre for Development in Wilkins, K., Tufte, T. & Obregon, R. (2014) *The Handbook of Development Communication and Social Change*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

McKechnie, L. (2008) Participant Observation in SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods edited by Lisa Given (2012).

Molz, J. G. & Gibson, S. (2016) *Mobilizing Hospitality: The Ethics of Social Relations in a Mobile World*. Aldershot: Ashgate.

Morawska, E. (2014) Composite meaning, flexible ranges, and multi-level conditions of conviviality: exploring the polymorph. *European Journal of cultural studies*, Vol. 17: 357-374.

Neal, S., Bennett, K., Cochrane, A., Mohan, G. (2013). Living multiculture: understanding the new spatial and social relations of ethnicity and multiculture in England. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, Vol. 31: 308-323.

Nicholson, H. (2014) Applied Drama: The Gift of Theatre. Palgrave Macmillan.

Noble, G. (2013). Cosmopolitan Habits: The Capacities and Habitats of Intercultural Conviviality. *Body & Society*, Vol. 19(2&3): 162-185.

Nowicka, M. & Heil, T. (2015) *On the analytical and normative dimensions of conviviality and cosmopolitanism*. Lecture at the Eberhard Karls University Tubingen, Germany; 25<sup>th</sup> June 2015: 1-20.

Nowicka, M. & Vertovec, S. (2014). Introduction. Comparing convivialities: Dreams and realities of living-with-difference. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, Vol. 17(4): 341-356.

O'Gorman, K. (2006) Theorists of Hospitality: Jacques Derrida's philosophy of hospitality. *The Hospitality Review*, Oct 2006: 50-57.

Ong, J. & Rovisco, M. (2019) Conviviality as a politics of endurance: the refugee emergency and the consolations of artistic intervention. *Popular Communication*. Vol. 82: 1-29.

O'Reilly, K. (2012) Ethnographic Methods. London: Routledge.

Overing, J. & Passes, A. (2000) *The Anthropology of Love and Anger. The Aesthetics of Conviviality in Native Amazonia*. Routledge, London.

Piekut, A. & Valentine, G. (2016) Perceived Diversity and Acceptance of Minority Ethnic Groups in Two Urban Contexts. *European Sociological Review*, Vol. 32(3): 339–354.

Pijpers, R. (2006) Help! The Poles Are Coming: Narrating a Contemporary Moral Panic in *Geografiska Annaler. Series B, Human Geography*, Vol. 88(1): 91-103.

Polgár, I. (2006) Euroscepticism, an increasing phenomenon among the member states. Road to Brexit in *Revista Romana de Geografie Politica*, Vol. 2: 83-93.

Ravn Olesen, B. (2020) Should I Have Said 'No'? Critical Reflections on Tensions in Forum Theatre. *International Review of Qualitative Research*, Vol. 00(0): 1-14.

Rosello, M. (2001) *Postcolonial Hospitality: The Immigrant as Guest*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Rzepnikowska, A. (2016) Convivial cultures in multicultural Manchester and Barcelona: Experiences of Polish women in *Studia Migracyjne – Przeglad Polonijny*, z. 2 (160)/2016: 119-134.

Scheyvens, R., Nowak, B. & Scheyvens, H. (2003) Ethical Issues in Scheyvens, R. & Storey, D. (2003) *Development Fieldwork: A Practical Guide*. 1<sup>st</sup> edition. London: Sage.

Smith, A. (2014) Maximizing empowerment in applied theatre with refugees and migrants in the United Kingdom: Facilitation shaped by an ethic of care. *Journal of Arts & Communities*, Vol. 6(2 & 3): 177-88.

Tufte, T. & Mefalopulos, P. (2009). *Participatory Communication: A Practical Guide. World Bank Working Paper*; no. 170. World Bank. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/5940 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.

Turner-King, R. (2018) Creating welcoming spaces in the city: exploring the theory and practice of 'hospitality' in two regional theatres. *The Journal of Applied Theatre and Performance*, Vol. 23(3): 421-437.

Tyler, K. (2017). The suburban paradox of conviviality and racism in postcolonial Britain. *Journal of ethnic and migration studies*, Vol. 43(11): 1890-1906.

UTS (2020) Adapting Research Methodologies in the Covid-19 Pandemic: Resources for researchers. Nippon Foundation Ocean Nexus Center at Earthlab. University of Washington. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, December 2020.

Valentine, G. (2008). Living with difference: reflections on geographies of encounter. *Progress in Human Geography*, Vol. 32(3): 323-337.

Vertovec, S. (2007a). Introduction: New directions in the anthropology of migration and multiculturalism. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 30(6): 961-978.

Vertovec, S. (2007b). Super-diversity and its implications. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, Vol. 30(6): 1024-1054.

Vertovec, S. & Wessendorf, S. (2005). Migration and Cultural, Religious and Linguistic Diversity in Europe: An overview of issues and trends. *Centre on Migration, Policy and Society*. University of Oxford. Working Paper No. 18: 1-63.

Wessendorf, S. (2013). Commonplace diversity and the "ethos of mixing": perceptions of difference in a London neighbourhood. *Identities: Global Studies in Culture and Power*, Vol. 20(4): 407-422.

Wessendorf, S. (2016). Settling in a Super-Diverse Context: Recent Migrants' Experiences of Conviviality. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, Vol. 37(5): 449-463.

Wise, A. & Noble, G. (2016) Convivialities: An Orientation. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, Vol. 37(5): 423-431.

Wise, A. & Velayutham, S. (2014). Conviviality in everyday multiculturalism: Some brief comparisons between Singapore and Sydney. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, Vol. 17(4): 406-430.

### **Online Sources**

URL 1: Hall, M. 2016. "MILLIONS of EU migrants grab our jobs: Time for Brexit to FINALLY take control of borders", *Express*, 18 February [online]. Available at: <a href="https://www.express.co.uk/news/politics/645052/2m-EU-migrants-grab-jobs-Brexit-take-control-of-our-borders">https://www.express.co.uk/news/politics/645052/2m-EU-migrants-grab-jobs-Brexit-take-control-of-our-borders</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 2: The Migration Observatory at the University of Oxford, 13 December 2019. *Immigration, Diversity and Social Cohesion*. Available at: <a href="https://migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/briefings/immigration-diversity-and-social-cohesion/">https://migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/briefings/immigration-diversity-and-social-cohesion/</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 3: Ted Cantle – About Community Cohesion. Available at: <a href="https://tedcantle.co.uk/about-community-cohesion/">https://tedcantle.co.uk/about-community-cohesion/</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

- URL 4: UNHCR What is a refugee. Available at:
- https://www.unhcr.org/uk/what-is-a-refugee.html [accessed: 5 August 2021]
- URL 5: UNHCR Asylum Seekers. Available at:

https://www.unhcr.org/uk/asylum-seekers.html [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 6: The Migration Observatory at the University of Oxford, 10 July 2019. Who Counts as a Migrant? Definitions and their Consequences. Available at:

https://migrationobservatory.ox.ac.uk/resources/briefings/who-counts-as-a-migrant-definitions-and-their-consequences/ [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 7: UK Parliament: House of Commons Library – Asylum Statistics. Available at: <a href="https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn01403/">https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn01403/</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 8: UNHCR – Asylum in the UK. Available at:

https://www.unhcr.org/uk/asylum-in-the-uk.html [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 9: Migration Yorkshire – Migration in Yorkshire & Humber: An Overview. Available at:

https://www.migrationyorkshire.org.uk/userfiles/file/projects/IUN/migration-in-yhfinal-report-iun-june2014.pdf [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 10: Leeds Observatory – Population of Leeds. Available at: <a href="https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/population/">https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/population/</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 11: *Mafwa Theatre: Current Projects - 'Kuluhenna Drama'*. Available at: <a href="https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/current-projects/kuluhenna-drama">https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/current-projects/kuluhenna-drama</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 12: *Mafwa Theatre: What We Do.* Available at:

https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/what-we-do [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 13: Acta (2019) REACT Manual, Bristol: acta. Available at:

https://www.acta-bristol.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/REACT\_Manual\_Eng.pdf [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 14: Kidd, B., Zahir, S. & Khan, S. (2008), *Arts and Refugees: History, Impact and Future*. Birmingham: Hybrid. Available at:

https://baringfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/ArtsandRefugees.pdf [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 15: Telegraph View. 2015 "Britain's hospitality is being

abused: Britain's immigration system remains open to exploitation. The Government has to restore the public's faith in it", *The Telegraph*, 4 January. Available at:

https://infoweb-newsbank-com.proxy.mau.se/apps/news/document-

view?p=AWNB&docref=news/152A9B7C069DBDA8 [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 16: Refugee Week: 'With Our Hands'. Available at:

https://refugeeweek.org.uk/events/with-our-hands/ [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 17: *Mafwa Theatre: Previous Projects - Cooking With Parveen*. Available at: <a href="https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/previous-projects/cooking-with-parveen">https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/previous-projects/cooking-with-parveen</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 18: *Mafwa Theatre: Current Projects - 'Sit With Us'*. Available at: <a href="https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/current-projects/sit-with-us">https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/current-projects/sit-with-us</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

URL 19: *Mafwa Theatre: Current Projects – Associate Artist Programme.* Available at: <a href="https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/current-projects/associate-artist-programme">https://www.mafwatheatre.co.uk/current-projects/associate-artist-programme</a> [accessed: 5 August 2021]

# 9 Appendices

# Appendix 1 - List of Interviewees

Pseudonym	Description	Engaged with Mafwa for	Interview date
Maya	Mafwa member, has lived 11 years in the UK and 5 years in Leeds, Asian background	Ca. 3 years	16/3-2021
Yasmina	Mafwa member, has lived 9 years in the UK and 6 years in Leeds, Middle Eastern background	3-4 years	19/3-2021
Sara	Mafwa member, has lived 13 years in the UK and more years in Leeds, in her 40s, Middle Eastern background	Ca. 6 months	30/4-2021
Laura	Mafwa member, lives in Leeds, in her 20s, British background	Ca. 2 years	30/07-2021
Isa	Mafwa member, has lived many years in the UK and 2 years in Leeds, in her 50s, African background	Ca. 2 years	30/07-2021
Name			
Keziah Berelson	Co-Artistic Director at Mafwa Theatre	4,5 years	22/3-2021
Tamsin Cook	Co-Artistic Director at Mafwa Theatre	4,5 years	30/7-2021
Aine	Volunteer with Mafwa Theatre. Educational background in Contemporary Dance	Ca. 1 year	19/7-2021

### Appendix 2 - Interview Guides

The following interview schedules were used to guide the interviews with the Mafwa members, facilitators, and the volunteer

### Mafwa Members

# **Community Theatre**

- Can you start by telling me a little bit about yourself?
- How did you find out about Mafwa Theatre?
- Why did you start participating in community theatre?
- How long have you been coming to the theatre sessions for?
- Have you done theatre before?
  - If no: Is it a different experience from what you expected?
- Why do you take part in the theatre sessions? What have you learned from doing drama with others?
- What have some of the themes and topics for the workshops been?

- What would you say is the focus of the sessions? Is it socialising, having fun, learning new skills or something else?
- Who does what during the theatre sessions? Can everyone, for example, come with ideas for future topics for the workshops? Do you help each other with practical preparations for the sessions? Do different people lead the sessions?
- What is your favourite part of the workshops? What kind of activity do you enjoy the most?
- Have you performed for an audience with Mafwa Theatre?
  - If no: Would you like to?
- What is it like doing theatre online compared to face-to-face? Is it different and do you miss anything?

# **Mafwa Projects**

- Have you taken part in any projects (for example 'Cooking with Parveen')?
  - If yes: Were you involved with making the podcast, did you take part in the picnic in the park and the short video or did you contribute to the recipe book?
- Do you have a favourite experience or memory from a project you've taken part in?
- What did you learn from the project you were involved in?
- Have you been on any trips with Mafwa Theatre or taken part in other activities besides theatre-making?

# The Group

- Has it been the same group of women coming for a long time or do newcomers often join?
- How are new members welcomed into the group? What do you all do to make people feel comfortable?
- Do you help or support each other in the group?
- Do you have a WhatsApp or FB group to stay in touch?
- Are the sessions long enough? Does everyone take equally much part in the sessions?
- What do you like about the group? Is it an advantage that it's only for women?
- Have you made any friends you talk to outside the theatre group?
- Can you talk about problems in the group?
- Is it ever challenging doing theatre with the group?
- Do you feel like you have a lot in common with the other women in the group?
- Have you learned anything from the other Mafwa members?

#### **Personal Experiences & Learnings**

#### Mafwa members not born in the UK:

- How long have you lived in the UK for? And in Leeds?
- Is it easy to get to know people in your area?
- Has being part of the community theatre made you feel differently about living in Leeds and in the UK?

# To all Mafwa members:

- Have you taken part in other community or artistic projects in Leeds?
- Would you recommend community theatre to other people? Why?

# <u>Facilitators</u>

### **Community Theatre**

- Tell me a bit about why you started Mafwa Theatre and why you're working with arts and community theatre
- Why did you decide to do participatory theatre with women from refugee and asylum seeker backgrounds?
- What is your impression of the experiences people have coming to the UK?
- What is special about doing drama together?
- When you talk about building 'community' in your academic article, what does it then mean to you?
- You describe your role as 'distributors of privilege' in your article can you tell a little about what you mean with this?
- You also mention that you, as facilitators, are there to shape and offer 'sustainable frames' for the theatre group what do you mean with this?

### **Mafwa Members**

- Who are the different women engaged with Mafwa Theatre?
- How do people find you at Mafwa?
- Why have you chosen to make the theatre company and the sessions entirely for women?
- How many different projects are you running at Mafwa? Do they all include drama of some kind?
- Why do you call the participating women 'members' and not 'participants', 'clients' etc?

# **Drama Group**

- Has it been the same group of women coming for a long time or are there often newcomers joining?
- How are new members welcomed into the group? Are the women good at making each other feel welcome and supporting new people?
- I've seen you working with themes like 'home' and 'comfort'. Do you ever work with more serious topics of, for example, fleeing a country, loneliness, seeking a new home, searching for a sense of belonging or similar? Or is it a conscious choice not to do so?
- How involved are the women in the process of making theatre? Do they ever come up with ideas for the workshops or help with the practical preparations for the sessions?

- Does everyone take equally much part in the sessions? What would you do if someone said, "I don't feel like taking part today, I just want to watch"?
- Are there any challenges with doing theatre with a diverse group?
- Have you noticed changes in any of the participants over time?
- Would you say that you have personally learned anything from working with this group of women?

# **Audiences & Performing**

- What are the benefits of doing performances for audiences compared to doing drama with the group during the weekly sessions?
- What have the themes of the performances been? Are they the same as during the weekly sessions?
- Is it important to have an audience?
- When doing performances, what are the messages you're trying to get through to the audience?
- Where have you performed? Is there an interest from the public in the performances?
- What have the audiences' reactions and feedback been?

# The Project 'Cooking with Parveen'

- How did you come up with the idea for the project?
- On the website it says: "Challenging stereotypes of sanctuary seekers by exploring food and femininity" what does this mean in praxis? Why did you choose to combine cooking and theatre? What was the idea behind?
- Who or what is 'Parveen'? Who came up with the name?
- Can you tell me a bit about the idea behind the play which you were supposed to perform for the project before lockdown?
- Did the women have the possibility to act different roles in the play? (both the British female and migrant female) Did you talk about the women's thoughts and feedback afterwards?
- Who came up with the idea for the recipe book and the podcast? Who took part in the planning, talking, and recording? Did the women write the recipes and poems?
- In the recipe book and podcast, it's only the women's voices we hear and words we read can you tell a bit about your thoughts and reasons behind entirely showing their voices and words?
- What changes did you have to make when going online? How did it affect the project?
- Who did you send the creative packs to during lockdown?

# Advocacy

- What kind of campaigning and advocacy work do you do?
- Who are the community and creative partners you work with?
- How do you work to "break down barriers" that can hinder people from engaging in the arts?

# **Funding**

- Is it difficult to get funding for an arts-focused project?
- Is funding short term or long term? Does it come with certain requirements from your side?

# Refugee Week

- Why is Mafwa Theatre involved in Refugee Week?
- Will you participate in Refugee Week 2021 too? What are you planning on doing?

#### Volunteer

# Volunteering

- Can you start by telling me a little bit about yourself and your background?
- How long have you been volunteering with Mafwa Theatre for?
- How often do you volunteer?
- Why did you decide to volunteer with Mafwa Theatre? Do you have a particular interest in theatre, volunteering with women, or people from refugee and asylum seeker backgrounds?
- Do you volunteer with other charities or organisations?

# **Learnings & Experiences**

- What have you personally learned from volunteering with this group of women?
- Have you gained new perspectives and insights due to volunteering, for example on life as a migrant in the UK?
- Have you been in close contact with refugees and asylum seekers before?
- What is it like when you take part in the sessions without volunteering? Why do you join and what does it give you?

#### Movement sessions & 'Sit with Us'

- What do you, in general, think working with movement and dancing can give the women? What do you think are the benefits with movement exercises?
- What was the aim and purpose with your sessions around movement for the project 'Sit with Us'?
- Did you plan the sessions and exercises for the project alone or together with Keziah and Tamsin?
- Did the women come with any ideas during the project or give you feedback, for example about what they liked or disliked?
- Did you experience any challenges during the sessions?
- Were there ever misunderstandings or disagreements in the project group?

Appendix 3 – Participant Observation
Here follows a short description of the participant observation taking place during online Zoom sessions and physical theatre sessions in an art studio in Leeds.

	Description
Online sessions	•
5/3	<ul> <li>Theme: Listening to live opera with Opera North, Leeds</li> <li>Warm-up: Everyone comes up with a stretching or hugging-oneself exercise which the others have to imitate</li> <li>The women listen to a female opera singer singing songs in English, German, and French</li> <li>The participants share their feelings around the music</li> </ul>
19/3	<ul> <li>Theme: Co-creating poetry with the female poet Rommi Smith around the topic: 'What does the city Leeds mean to you?'</li> <li>Warm-up: Everyone expresses how they feel in that moment by starting the sentence with: "I feel" (examples: "excited, tired, worried, stressed, hopeful")</li> <li>The women are told to find an object in their homes which symbolises Leeds to them (examples: a theatre ticket, a library book) and share the story with the group</li> <li>The participants create a simple poem together with Rommi Smith around their thoughts about Leeds (examples: "Leeds is a quiet place full of welcoming organisations", "Mafwa is a place for friendships")</li> </ul>
26/3	<ul> <li>Warm-up: Everyone is told to wrap themselves in a blanket and imitate the simple exercises for giving themselves a gentle face and neck massage</li> <li>The group votes between the final two choices for a group name and ends up with the name 'Kuluhenna Drama'</li> <li>An external evaluator asks the women questions about their experiences of the Zoom sessions (most people express that it has been less personal, the actual drama exercises been fewer but that Keziah and Tamsin have been supportive and stayed in touch) and about their suggestions for future activities with Mafwa (examples: working with stories, collage-making)</li> <li>Cool-down: The participants imitate the facilitators doing stretching and circular movements with their body</li> </ul>
16/4	<ul> <li>Theme: 'Comfort' and 'Feeling at home'.</li> <li>A key worker introduces her charity offering free 'mental health services' for women struggling + the facilitators mention an arts-based project with an organisation sending out creative packages to people during the pandemic</li> <li>The group talks about their plans of working with textile as decorations and personal 'soundscapes' for their art installation 'Sit With Us' for Refugee Week 2021.</li> <li>Everyone goes to find a piece of fabric in their house that means something special to them. It leads to different people</li> </ul>

	sharing stories about the use of textiles and the meaning of
	patterns in different cultures and countries.
	The participants are told to create a comfy corner where they
	feel relaxed in their house and take a picture of it
	Cool-down: The participants each come up with stretching
	exercises while holding a pillow and imitate each other doing
	yawning exercises
30/4	Theme: 'Comfort' and 'Feeling at home' with poet Rommi Smith.
30/4	The group once again generates words and poems with Rommi
	which will be used for their art installation for Refugee Week
	2021
	More of the women have had their photo taken with Mafwa
	before in front of a space or building in Leeds which means
	something to them (examples: a library, a park, the cricket
	stadium). They now share with the group how they feel about
	the place while Rommi 'scribes' i.e., they talk while she takes
	notes before reading it back to them
	• The group talks about their feelings as participants in the
	Mafwa Theatre group (examples: a place of acceptance,
	somewhere to belong), their favourite music for relaxing and
	what 'home' means to them (more say that it is loving people
	who make a 'home') while Rommi takes notes
	The women take turn reading Rommi's notes aloud from the
	chat and simple poems are shaped
7/5	Theme: Comfort through movements with volunteer Aine
	Warm-up: The women take turn expressing how they are
	feeling at the moment through hand movements and facial
	expressions
	Everyone is asked to pick an object in the home which makes
	them feel comfortable (examples: a scarf, pillow, book, game
	console, the Bible) and explain to the group why they have
	chosen it
	Everyone dances simultaneously to music with their object
	while exploring it (examples: opening it, feeling it, throwing it
Di di la contra	in the air) – first by themselves and then in pairs
Physical sessions 25/6	Themse Evaluating the magnet project 'Sit with He' for Defines Week
23/0	Theme: Evaluating the recent project 'Sit with Us' for Refugee Week 2021 + Socialising over pizza and music
	The participants give feedback around: the positives and
	negatives from the project, and possible ideas and
	improvements for future projects
	They discuss options for an upcoming theme. The facilitators
	suggest working around 'green spaces' as more of the women
	have shown an interest in nature or growing their own plants
	and vegetables. Most members are very positive to it
	Afterwards, they have pizzas together while listening and
	dancing to different types of music
30/7	Theme: 'What does 'Green Spaces' mean to you?' + welcoming new
	people into the group
·	

	<ul> <li>Warm-up: Standing in a circle, everyone comes up with an activity starting with the first letter in their name and a movement the others have to imitate (example: Tamsin – tennis, Anne - acting)</li> <li>Warm-up: Still standing in a circle, the women take turn saying their name before saying one of another person in the group; all without showing ones teeth or the others shout 'teeth, teeth, teeth!' (example: 'Tamsin to Anne' -&gt; 'Anne to Keziah')</li> <li>All participants choose how they want to physically embody something in a green space (examples: a 'tree', 'dog' or 'hiker') on the floor. They take turns moving around each other or standing still as their character or object</li> <li>The participants are divided into pairs and talk about their last experience in nature before sharing it with the group</li> <li>Cool-down: A cooperative game played with everyone's eyes closed and combining breathing exercises with taking turns counting without two people talking at the same time.</li> </ul>
13/8	Theme: Puppetry with an external female artist
	Warm-up: The participants move around in the room and do a movement, sound or a little dance when the facilitator says a number
	<ul> <li>The participants each pick a stick, describe how it looks and feels and make it 'come alive' through imagining how it is sleeping, moving, and talking.</li> </ul>
	Two women do a smaller play together where one 'stick' wakes up the other which then reacts in a chosen way (examples: fighting, hugging or dancing)
	• All the women each make a simple puppet out of newspaper and tape before interacting (examples: some make friends and go fishing, another has a heart attack and is given CPR by another puppet, one wakes up speaking only Spanish and realises that a couple of other puppets speaks the language too)